INSTITUT FOR NATURFAGENES DIDAKTIK Københavns universitet



The Anthropological Theory of the Didactical (ATD)

Peer reviewed papers from a PhD-course

Marianne Foss Mortensen Carl Winsløw

February 2011

The Anthropological Theory of the Didactical (ATD)

Peer reviewed papers from a PhD course at the University of Copenhagen, 2010

Department of Science Education University of Copenhagen

Published by the Department of Science Education, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

E-version at http://www.ind.ku.dk/skriftserie

Printed at www.lulu.com. The anthology can be bought through the marketplace at http://www.lulu.com

The Anthropological Theory of the Didactical (ATD). Peer reviewed papers from a PhD course at the University of Copenhagen, 2010, IND Skriftserie 20. ISSN: 1602-2149



Funded by FUKU, Forskeruddannelsesprogram i Uddannelsesforskning, Københavns Universitet

Author Addresses

- Asami-Johansson, Yukiko: Department of Electronics, Mathematics and Natural Sciences, University of Gävle, 801 76 Gävle, Sweden
- Becevic, Semir: Lärarutbildningen LUT, Högsskolan Halmstad, 301 18 Halmstad, Sweden
- Bruun, Jesper: Department of Science Education, University of Copenhagen, Øster Voldgade 3, 1350 Copenhagen K, Denmark
- Frejd, Peter: Department of Mathematics, Linköping University, 581 83 Linköping, Sweden
- Lundberg, Anna L.V.: Department of Mathematics, Linköping University, 581 83 Linköping, Sweden
- Mortensen, Marianne: Department of Science Education, University of Copenhagen, Øster Voldgade 3, 1350 Copenhagen K, Denmark
- Winsløw, Carl: Department of Science Education, University of Copenhagen, Øster Voldgade 3, 1350 Copenhagen K, Denmark
- Ärlebäck, Jonas Bergman: Applied Mathematics, Department of Mathematics, Linköping University, 581 83 Linköping, Sweden

Contents

A graduate course on the anthropological theory of didactics
Carl Winsløw and Marianne Foss Mortenseni
Revisiting groups of students' solving process of realistic Fermi problem from the perspective of the Anthropological Theory of Didactics
Jonas Bergman Ärlebäck1
Proportion in mathematics textbooks in upper secondary school
Anna L. V. Lundberg
ATD and CoP in a framework for investigating social networks in physics classrooms
Jesper Bruun
A Study of Problem Solving Oriented Lesson Structure in Mathematics in Japan
Yukiko Asami-Johansson 49
Mathematical modelling in the Swedish national course tests in mathematics
Peter Frejd61
Institutional practices in the case of the number e at upper secondary school in Sweden
Semir Becevic

A graduate course on the anthropological theory of didactics

Carl Winsløw and Marianne Foss Mortensen

This book presents the products of a doctoral course held in Copenhagen from January to June, 2010. Its aim was to introduce a new and exciting direction in research on educational subjects: the anthropological theory of didactics, founded by the French didactician Y. Chevallard (cf. 1985). While the aims of the theory have developed and expanded over the years (cf. Bosch and Gascón, 2006), the institutional perspective on knowledge has remained central to its objective. This means that the theory aims to study human practices and discourses as phenomena profoundly linked to the institutions that frame, enable, and constrain them.

Teaching is at first sight a practice which appears so familiar to us all that it may even seem trivially derived from the knowledge and capacity it exists to transmit. This, however, turns out to be a rather naïve viewpoint. A closer look reveals that teaching institutions tend to develop coherent and autonomous cultures, which shape not only their practices as schools but also the practices and the knowledge they transmit. An evident example, which is also quite present in this book, is school mathematics: it cannot be said that what is practiced and explained there simply repeats what we find in books or practices elsewhere, such as in universities or in the antique origins of the subjects. A school discipline transforms and develops its practices, ideas and justifications on its own, precisely as a culture does – notwithstanding its more or less lively interactions with the surrounding world.

The anthropological theory of didactics (ATD) is not a theory *about* scientific didactics but one which is tailored to study didactic phenomena, and thus to serve *in* the science of didactics. The French name, *théorie anthropologique du didactique*, means literally "anthropological theory of the didactical", where "the didactical" refers to objects of a didactic nature: teaching, text books, regulations, institutions and any other entity set up to teach something to

somebody. Even the word "teach" must be understood rather broadly here. The essential of being "didactic" is *the intention* of someone to enable someone else to know or do something; didactic phenomena include everything done in such an intention. Thus, didactic phenomena are found in many other places than school institutions – for instance also in enterprises, television, exhibits, sports fields and concert halls.

A doctoral course itself fits the definition of didactic phenomena, albeit of a strangely particular kind: what the participants should become able to know and do is to engage autonomously in the pursuit of knowledge (within a certain field). The present course was quite broad in its definition of the field but very sharp in designating ATD as the theoretical perspective to learn – in the sense just mentioned, that is, in a process of becoming autonomous researchers.

We initially had 11 participants from 4 different countries and a similar number of research fields (didactics of mathematics, didactics of physics, didactics of music and general education). The course was organized in three two-day sessions, as follows (cf. Appendix 1):

- 1. Introductions and first experiences with ATD
- 2. In-depth discussion of participants' own projects and ideas for putting ATD into use in relation to them;
- 3. Conference-like presentation and discussion of participants' papers, resulting from the work in and after the second session.

Before the first session, participants were requested to read a certain number of basic texts (listed in Appendix 2). The session itself benefited from the presence of the founder of ATD, Yves Chevallard, who along with Marianna Bosch was present during all of the first session. They both gave three hour workshops, Marianna on "levels of didactic co-determination" (which is one of the newer developments of ATD), and Yves on more fundamental aspects of ATD, which he is currently working to collect and organize in what he terms a "dictionary". Shorter lectures on general principles and further examples of ATD-based research were given by us, as well as by one experienced participant (Finn Holst).

The second session had a more individual flavor. Every participant had been given, at the conclusion of the first session, one or more papers on ATD-based research with a more or less evident relation to the doctoral project of that participant (a list of these texts can be found in appendix 3). Participants had prepared a short exposition of that paper along with some first ideas of how to use it, and other elements of the course, in a small research project that could lead to the final paper (based on which the course was assessed). These expositions formed the basis of intensive discussions at the session, with inputs from both us as course teachers, and from the other participants. The second session was held in an especially festive atmosphere, due to the announcement (around Feb. 1, 2010) of the award of the Hans Freudenthal medal to Yves Chevallard, in acknowledgement of his world class achievements related to ATD.

Finally, the third session saw the presentation of the papers produced by each participant, as at a regular conference. We notice in passing that the organization of the course let the participants experience most of the forms of work involved in research (particularly at the level of generating, sharpening and criticizing ideas). This aspect of the course was further strengthened by the revision of the texts after the course through a genuine peer review process (other participants acting, naturally, as "peers").

A total of nine participants completed the course (and thus produced a paper of the kind mentioned). Three of them, however, did not go through with the final peer review process to publish their paper in this booklet (lack of time being the most frequent reason). Thus, we can here present a part of the work resulting from the course, and we are happy to be able to say that it includes genuine research accomplishments, using a difficult and novel theoretical approach which was also new to the authors.

To them, as well as to Yves and Marianna, we extend our sincere and heartfelt thanks for having collaborated with us in the setting of this course. We are confident you will be pleased with the result of your efforts, as presented here – and that you will take the projects begun here further on, to complete studies and eventually journal papers. We sincerely hope that every other reader of this book will find material and inspiration for pursuing the study and development of the research programme which ATD really is.

References.

- Bosch, M. & Gascón, J. (2006). Twenty five years of the didactic transposition. *ICMI Bulletin* 58, 51-65.
- Chevallard, Y. (1985). La Transposition Didactique. Du savoir savant au savoir enseigné. La Pensée Sauvage, Grenoble (2nd edition 1991).

Appendix 1. Schedules of the three course sessions.

Session 1 – day one (February 11, 2010) 10.00-11.00: Welcome and introduction by participants. 11.15-12.00: ATD and this course. Introduction by Carl Winsløw. 13.00-16.00: Workshop by Marianna Bosch 16.30-18.10: Presentation and discussion of two almost finished PhDprojects related to ATD (Marianne Mortensen, Finn Holst)

Session 1 – day two (February 12, 2010) 9.30-12.30: Workshop by Yves Chevallard. 13.30-14.30: ATD as an anthropological theory of mathematics. Lecture by Carl Winsløw. 14.30-15.30: First discussion of participants' individual projects, selection and distribution of (individual) texts for 2nd session.

Session 2 (April 11-12, 2010)

Each of the 10 participants had an individual session (1 hour) during which their ideas for an ATD-based paper were discussed by all.

Session 3 (June 10-11, 2010)

Each of the nine remaining participants presented an ATD-based paper which was then discussed by the whole group.

Appendix 2. Reading list for the first session (for all participants).

- 1. Bosch, M. and Gascón, J. (2006). Twenty five years of the didactic transposition. *ICMI Bulletin* 58, 51-65.
- 2. Chevallard, Y. (2006). Steps towards a new epistemology in mathematics education. In M. Bosch (Ed.), *Proceedings of the IVth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education* (pp.21-30). Barcelona: Universitat Ramon Llull.
- 3. Chevallard, Y. (2007). Readjusting Didactics to a Changing Epistemology. *European Educational Research Journal*, 6(2), 131-134.
- 4. Barquero, M., Bosch, M., Gascón, J.: The 'ecology of mathematical modelling: restrictions to its teaching at university

level. To appear in *Proceedings of the VIth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education.*

 Rodríguez, E., Bosch, M. and Gascón, J. A networking method to compare theories: metacognition in problem solving reformulated within the Anthropological Theory of the Didactical. *ZDM Mathematics Education* (2008) 40:287–301.

Appendix 3. Reading list for the second session (individual assignments).

- 1. Bourg, A. (2006). Analyse comparative des notions de transposition didactique et depratiques sociales de reference. Le choix d'un modèle en didactique de la musique? *Journal de Recherche en Education Musicale* 5 (1), 79-116.
- Barbé, J., Bosch, M., Espinoza, L. et Gascón, J.(2005). Didactic restrictions on teachers practice - the case of limits of functions at Spanish high schools. *Educational Studies in Mathematics* 59 (1-3), 235-268.
- Garcia, F., Gascón, J., Higueras, L. Bosch, M. (2006). Mathematical modelling as a tool for the connection of school mathematics. *ZMD 38* (3), 226-246.
- Tetchueng, J.-L., Garlatti, S. & Laube, S. (2008). A context-aware learning system based on generic scenarios and the theory in didactic anthropology of knowledge. *International J. of Computer Science & Applications 5* (1), 71-87.
- Ruiz, N., Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2008). The functional algebraic modelling at secondary level. In Pitta-Pantazi, D. & G. Pilippou (Eds.), *Proceedings of the fifth congress of the European* society for research in mathematics education (pp. 2170–2179) Cyprus: University of Cyprus.
- Barquero, B. Bosch, M. & Gascón, J. (2007). Using research and study courses for teaching mathematical modelling at university level. In M. Bosch (Ed), *Proceedings of CERME 5*, pp. 2050-2059.U. Barcelona.
- Miyakawa, T. & Winsløw, C. (2010): Japanese "open lessons" as institutional context for developing mathematics teacher knowledge. To appear in proceedings of CATD-3.
- 8. Miyakawa, T. & Winsløw, C. (2009). Didactical designs for students' proportional reasoning: An "open approach" lesson and a

"fundamental situation". *Educational Studies in Mathematics* 72 (2), 199-218.

- Monaghan, J. (2007). Computer algebra, instrumentation and the anthropological approach. *International Journal for Technology in Mathematics* 14(2), 63-72.
- 10. Hardy, N. (2009). Students' perceptions of institutional practices: the case of limits of functions in college level calculus courses. *Educational Studies in Mathematics* 72, 341-358.
- 11. Thrane, T. (2009). Design og test af RSC-forløb om vektorfunktioner og bevægelse. Master's Thesis, University of Copenhagen.
- Chevallard, Y. (1989). Implicit mathematics : its impact on societal needs and demands. *In* Malone, J., H. Burkhardt, & C. Keitel (eds.), *The Mathematics Curriculum: Towards the Year* 2000, Curtin University of Technology, Perth, pp. 49-57.
- Hansen, B. and Winsløw, C. (2010). Research and study course diagrams as an analytic tool: the case of bidisciplinary projects combining mathematics and history. To appear in *Proceedings of CATD-3*.
- Artigue, M. (2002). Learning mathematics in a CAS environment: the genesis of a reflection about instrumentation and the dialectics between technical and conceptual work. *International Journal of Computers for Mathematical Learning* 7, 245–274.

Revisiting groups of students' solving process of realistic Fermi problem from the perspective of the Anthropological Theory of Didactics

Jonas Bergman Ärlebäck

Department of Mathematics, Linköping University, Sweden

Abstract. This paper reports on the first attempt to use the notions of 'Research and Study Course' (RSC) and 'praxeologies' within the Anthropological Theory of Didactics (ATD) to analyse groups of students engaged in the mathematical activity of solving realistic Fermi problems. By considering so called realistic Fermi problem as a generating question in a RSC the groups' derived subquestions are identified and the praxeologies developed to address these are discussed.

Introduction

Working with mathematical models and modelling is a central part of the national written official intended curriculum for the Swedish upper secondary mathematics education (Skolverket, 2000). Indeed, these notions have successively been both more emphasised and made more explicit in the last two curricula reforms from 1994 and 2000 respectively (Ärlebäck, 2009a). Nevertheless, research indicates that teachers have difficulties in formulating and explaining their conceptions of these notions (Ärlebäck, in press) and in a study of 381 upper secondary students across Sweden 77 % stated that they never had encountered the notions during their upper secondary education (Frejd & Ärlebäck, submitted). However, it has been suggested and concluded that the introduction of the notions and the students' initial conceptualisation of mathematical modelling at the upper secondary level adequately and efficiently can be done using so called realistic Fermi problems (Ärlebäck, 2009b; Ärlebäck & Bergsten, 2010). This conclusion is drawn using the so called MAD

framework which provides a macroscopic analytical tool originating from Schoenfeld's 'graphs of problem solving' (Schoenfeld, 1985) applied to the work of groups of students solving realistic Fermi problems. This paper reports on the first attempt to use notions from the Anthropological Theory of Didactics (ATD), founded and foremost developed by Yves Chevallard, to revisits the data used in the analysis to provide a microscopic analysis of the work of the students with the aim to add a more detailed and nuanced picture of the problem solving process. In addition, the microscopic analysis also aims to in more detail highlight the possibilities and limitations of realistic Fermi problems in connection with the teaching and learning of mathematical modelling as a curriculum goal in it self as well as a mean for teaching and learning mathematics more generally.

Background

In the research literature in mathematics education there are many different perspectives on and ways to approach mathematical modelling (e.g. Blum, Galbraith, Henn, & Niss, 2007; Lesh, Galbraith, Haines, & Hurford, 2010). Concepts and notations used are for instance those of competencies (Blomhøj & Højgaard Jensen, 2007; Maaß, 2006); modelling skills (Berry, 2002); and, subprocesses or sub-activities (Blomhøj & Højgaard Jensen, 2003). Normally these focus on the descriptions of, relations between and/or the transitions of phenomena in the real world and their mathematical representations. From an ATD perspective García et al. (2006) have presented a conceptualisation of mathematical modelling which basically equates all mathematical activity with mathematical modelling. The perspective on mathematical modelling adapted in this paper however is inherited from Ärlebäck (2009b) in line with the aim to in a coherent and natural way complement and deepen this previous research. This perspective is based on how mathematical modelling is described in the Swedish upper secondary curriculum (e.g. Skolverket, 2000), here illustrated in Figure 1. A similar interpretation of the modelling process from the Swedish context has been presented by Palm et al. (2004).



Figure 1. The modelling cycle as presented by Borromeo Ferri (2006, p. 92) after adaption from Blum and Lei β (2007).

Ärlebäck (2009b) and Ärlebäck and Bergsten (2010) report on an investigation of the potential of using so called realistic Fermi problems to introduce mathematical modelling at the upper secondary level. Realistic Fermi problems are characterized by (I) their accessibility, meaning that they can be approached by all individual students or groups of students as well as be solved on both different educational levels and on different levels of complexity. Normally, any specific pre-mathematical knowledge is not required to provide an answer; (II) their clear real-world connection, to be *realistic*; (III) the need to specify and structure the relevant information and relationships to be able to tackle the problem. In other words for the problem formulation to be open in such a way that the problem solvers not immediately associated the problem with a know strategy or procedure on how to solve it, but rather urge the problem solvers to invoke prior experiences, conceptions, constructs, strategies and other cognitive skills in approaching the problem; (IV) the absence of numerical data, that is the need to make reasonable estimates of relevant quantities; and (V) their inner momentum to promote discussion, that as a group activity they invite to discussion on different matters such as what is relevant for the problem and how to estimate physical entities (e.g. respectively (III) and (IV) above).

The realistic Fermi problem the groups of students solved used in Ärlebäck (2009b) and Ärlebäck and Bergsten (2010) was *the Empire State Building problem (ESB-problem)*:

The Empire State Building problem:

On the street level in Empire State Building there is an information desk. The two most frequently asked questions to the staff are:

- How long does the tourist elevator take to the top floor observatory?
- If one instead decides to walk the stairs, how long does this take?

Your task is to write short answers to these questions, including the assumptions on which you base your reasoning, to give to the staff at the information desk.

The data from three groups of students working on the ESB-problem was analysed using a developed analytical tool called <u>Modelling</u> <u>Activity</u> <u>Diagram</u> (the MAD framework) inspired by Schoenfeld's 'graphs of problem solving' (Schoenfeld, 1985), the view adapted on mathematical modelling briefly mentioned in the beginning of this section, and the five characteristic features of realistic Fermi problems.

The MAD framework, see Figure 2, picture the different types of activities the groups engage in during the problem solving process in terms of the categories <u>Reading</u>, <u>Making model</u>, <u>Estimating</u>, <u>Verifying</u>, <u>Calculating</u>, and <u>Writing</u> depicted on the y-axis, and elapsed time on the x-axis (see Ärlebäck (2009b) for details). However, this schematic macroscopic representation does not provide any detailed information about what kind of discussions, topics and questions the groups address and investigate. In order to get a more nuanced and circumstantial picture of the problem solving process involving realistic Fermi problems in these respects this paper aims to provide a more microscopic analysis focusing on what actually is discussed within the groups, especially in connection to mathematical topics and content.



Figure 2. An example of a Modelling Activity Diagram of one of the groups solving the ESB-problem (Ärlebäck, 2009b, s. 346).

Theoretical framework

This paper uses the notions of *praxeologies* and *Research and Study Course* (RSC) from ATD. Within this framework *praxeologies* are used to describe any human activity in terms of two 'blocks': a *praxis* block ('know-how' or 'practical-part') containing both a designated type of *tasks* and the *techniques* used/needed to complete/perform these; and a *logos* block ('know-why' or 'knowledge-part') containing the *technologies* that explain, justify and describe the techniques as well as the formal justification of these technologies, the *theory*. As the name praxeologies suggests the praxis- and logos blocks are to be regarded as inseparable (Barbé, Bosch, Espinoza, & Gascón, 2005; Rodríguez, Bosch, & Gascón, 2008).

The notion of *Research and Study Course* (RSC) introduced by Chevallard (2004; 2006) is a general model that can be used for both designing and analyzing learning and study processes. A main emphasis of a RSC is on the *generating question*, Q_0 , which should be intriguing and of genuine interest to the students as well as 'rich enough' to encourage the students to derive, pursue and answer dynamically raised and related (sub-)questions in the quest of trying to arrive at an answer to the question Q0. In addressing these questions the students have to invoke, use and/or develop one or more praxeologies. The derived sequence of sub-questions Qi and their respective answers Ri are often represented and illustrated in a 'treediagram' which illustrates the relationships between the different studied questions Qi; see Figure 3 for an example.

Given the notions briefly introduced above and interpreting the ESBproblem as a generating question in a RSC, the research question(s) studied in this paper can be stated as: *What sub-questions are addressed by the participating groups of students and what* (*mathematical*) praxeologies developed and/or used?

Methodology and Method

In terms of ATD the study reported on in Ärlebäck (2009b) and Ärlebäck and Bergsten (2010) can be conceptualised as an investigation of the *didactical praxeology* with the *task* to introduce mathematical modelling to students at the upper secondary level using the suggested *technique* presented by realistic Fermi problems. The issues addressed in these papers, as well as in this one, are concerning the (underdeveloped) *logos block* of this *didactical praxeology*, especially the *technology* part addressing issues of justifying the use of realistic Fermi problems.

To address the research question, widening and deepening the analysis of the groups of 2-3 students solving realistic Fermi problems, the recorded video and transcribed data from Ärlebäck (2009b) was revisited and re-analysed. The approach taken was in line with Hansen and Winsløw (2010) who make use of the RSC as an analytic model. Although there exist an a priori analysis in Ärlebäck (2009b) of some of the questions the problem solvers need to address, this paper only focus on the empirical questions actually addressed by one of the groups of students during their problem solving session. In other words, the idea is to consider the students work on the realistic Fermi problem as the generative question Q0 and to see what (sub-)questions $O_{i,j,...}$ this led the students to investigate, and in addition to link these questions the MAD representation of the problem solving process of the studied group. Note that in the ESB-problem the generating question, Q0, actually is two questions:

Q0,1: How long does the tourist elevator take to the top floor observatory?

Q0,2: If one instead decides to walk the stairs, how long does this take?

Results

The questions Qi,j,... the students derived from the generative questions and examined are presented below in the order in which they were raised and posed during the problem solving session. The formulations below are translated but in principle the students' own wording; some minor alterations have been made in order make the actual question intelligible and more concise. Basically the questions Q1... are concerned with the ESB's physical appearance, Q2... address Q0,1 (taking the elevator), and Q3... address Q0,2 (taking the stairs):

Q1: How tall is the Empire State building?

Q1,1: How many floors are there in the Empire State Building?

Q1,1,1: How high is a floor?

Q1,2: How tall can a general building be?

Q1,3: How tall was the World Trade Centre?

Q2: How fast is an elevator?

Q2,1: What is the weight of the elevator?

Q2,1,1: How much work is being done by the elevator?

Q2,1,1,1: Given the work done by the elevator, can we then calculate its velocity?

Q2,2: How long does it take to ride the elevator to Michael's [a friend] apartment?

Q2,2,1: On what floor is Michael's apartment?

Q3: How tired does one get from walking the stairs?

Q3,1: How longer does it take walking up one floor?

Q3,2: How much longer does it take for each consecutive floor?

Q3,2,1: How long does it take to walk up the first floor?

Q3,2,1,1: How fast is normal walking pace?

8 Jonas Bergman Ärlebäck

Q3,2,1,2: What is the inclination of the stairs?

Q3,3: My [one of the students] mother lives on the fifth floor – I wonder how long it takes walking up the stairs to her place?



Figure 3. A tree-diagram illustrating the relationship between the questions addressed by one group of students solving the ESB-problem

Figure 4 illustrates the dynamic aspects of the addressed questions added to the MAD representation of the students' problem solving process. The first time a specific question is explicitly addressed it is preceded by an asterisk (*).



Figure 4. The Modelling Activity Diagram (Ärlebäck, 2009b, s. 346) extended with the order and dynamics of the derived questions in the RSC. The relationships between these (sub-)questions are illustrated in Figure 3. Note that the doted lines in the tree-diagram display the dependence of the answers R1, R2, and R3 respectively with respect to previously answers to questions in the tree. However, due to space limitations, and the fact that the focus of this paper is on the derived questions, these details are omitted here to be discussed elsewhere.

All branches except Q2, 1, ... represent questions which answers contributed to the solving of the ESB-problem. The branch Q2, 1, ... is about the classical mechanics concept of work, which the students briefly discuss as one possible strategy to get an estimate for the velocity of the elevators in the ESB.

After about having spent about 15 minutes on the problem the group starts working on details concerning their suggested model on how to take the physical exertion into consideration in the Q0,2 question. They continue to do this in approximately 4 minutes, before the writing of the letter instructed in the problem formulation begins.

Conclusion and Discussion

One can notice that the actual modelling in terms of discussing, structuring and determining central variables and relationships important for solving the problem is something that is made implicitly and silently throughout the problem solving session. The praxeologies developed to address the questions (tasks) Q0,1 and Q0,2, all three groups in Ärlebäck (2009b) used the mathematical model t=s/v (t being the time, s the distance, and v the (average) velocity) as the basic technique to approach the questions. However, the decision to use this model is not explicitly uttered, or in any other way directly communicated, within the groups; it seem that all the participating students took it for granted that this was the model to use to solve the problem. In other words, the logos of this praxeology is kept hidden. It is possible that this 'choice' narrowed the groups' possibilities to go beyond this model and come up with more elaborated models.

A majority of the praxeologies the students developed made use of estimation as the technique to resolve the tasks originating from all (but Q2, 1, 1, 1 and Q3) of the derived questions the students engaged in. All these praxeologies have underdeveloped logos and the technologies and theories invoked to justify and verify the estimates are based on personal and often anecdotal experiences. This is due to the feature of realistic Fermi problem to not provide the students with any explicit numbers to work with. It should be noted that one of the

technologies applied and made use of to validate the estimate in some of these praxeologies are the same mathematical model as used as the technique in addressing Q0,1 and Q0,2; v=s/t.

The result suggests that there are some often used mathematical models, here exemplified by v=s/t, which are taken for granted used without second thought and reflection on underlying assumptions, limitations or alternatives. An explanation might be found in the different institutional conditions and constrains where these models are taught, learnt, practiced and applied. In particular, it would be interesting to study the didactical transposition of the notions and use of mathematical models and modelling to see where these conditions and constrains arise.

Though it has proven productive and useful to use realistic Fermi problems for the introduction of mathematical modelling at the upper secondary level (Ärlebäck, 2009b), the challenge for the future is to design generative questions in the RSC so that also more advanced mathematical praxeologies are invoked and developed. The RSC 'allows' for the teacher to intervene, comment and make suggestions during the course of study, and this present a possibility to achieve more, and perhaps specific, advanced mathematical content

References

- Ärlebäck, J. B. (2009a). Matematisk modellering i svenska gymnasieskolans kursplaner i matematik 1965-2000. [Mathematical modelling in the Swedish curriculum documents the upper secondary mathematics education between the years 1965-2000]. [In Swedish] No. 2009:8, LiTH-MAT-R-2009-8). Linköping: Linköpings universitet, Matematiska institutionen.
- Ärlebäck, J. B. (2009b). On the Use of Realistic Fermi Problems for Introducing Mathematical Modelling in School. *The Montana Mathematics Enthusiast*, 6(3), 331-364.
- Ärlebäck, J. B. (in press). Towards Understanding Teacher's Beliefs and Affects About Mathematical Modelling. *CERME 6, The Sixth Conference of European Research in Mathematics Education,* Lyon, France.
- Ärlebäck, J. B., & Bergsten, C. (2010). On the Use of Realistic Fermi Problems in Introducing Mathematical Modelling in Upper Secondary Mathematics. In R. Lesh, P. L. Galbraith, W. Blum & A. Hurford (Eds.), *Modeling Students' Mathematical Modeling Competencies. ICTMA 13* (pp. 597-609) Springer.

- Barbé, J., Bosch, M., Espinoza, L., & Gascón, J. (2005). Didactic Restrictions on the Teacher's Practice: The Case of Limits of Functions in Spanish High Schools. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 59(1), 235-268.
- Berry, J. (2002). Developing mathematical modelling skills: The role of CAS. ZDM, 34(5), 212-220.
- Blomhøj, M., & Højgaard Jensen, T. (2003). Developing mathematical modelling competence: conceptual clarification and educational planning. *Teaching Mathematics and its Applications*, 22(3), 123-139.
- Blomhøj, M., & Højgaard Jensen, T. (2007). What's All the Fuss About Competencies? In W. Blum, P. L. Galbraith, H. Henn & M. Niss (Eds.), *Modelling and applications in mathematics* education. The 14th ICMI study. (pp. 45-56). New York: Springer.
- Blum, W., Galbraith, P. L., Henn, H., & Niss, M. (Eds.). (2007). Modelling and applications in mathematics education. The 14th ICMI study. New York: Springer.
- Blum, W., & Leiβ, D. (2007). How do students and teachers deal with modelling problems? In C. Haines, P. Galbraith, W. Blum & S. Khan (Eds.), Mathematical modelling (ICTMA 12): Education, Engineering and Economics: proceedings from the twelfth International Conference on the Teaching of Mathematical Modelling and Applications (pp. 222-231). Chichester: Horwood.
- Borromeo Ferri, R. (2006). Theoretical and empirical differentiations of phases in the modelling process. *ZDM*, *38*(2), 86-95.
- Chevallard, Y. (2004). Vers une didactique de la codisciplinarité. Notes sur une nouvelle épistémologie scolaire. *Journées De Didactique Comparée. Lyon.*
- Chevallard, Y. (2006). Steps towards a new epistemology in mathematics education. In M. Bosch (Ed.), *Proceeding of the IVth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education (CERME 4)* (pp. 22-30). Barcelona: Universitat Ramon Llull Editions.
- Frejd, P., & Ärlebäck, J. B. (submitted). First results from a study investigating Swedish upper secondary students' mathematical modelling competency.

- García, F., Gascón, J., Higueras, L., & Bosch, M. (2006). Mathematical modelling as a tool for the connection of school mathematics. ZDM, 38(3), 226-246.
- Hansen, B., & Winsløw, C. (2010). Research and study course diagrams as an analytic tool: the case of bidisciplinary projects combining mathematics and history. *To appear in proceedings of CATD-3*,
- Lesh, R., Galbraith, P. L., Haines, C. R., & Hurford, A. (Eds.). (2010). Modeling Students' Mathematical Modeling Competencies. New York: Springer.
- Maaß, K. (2006). What are modelling competencies? ZDM, 38(2), 113-142.
- Palm, T., Bergqvist, E., Eriksson, I., Hellström, T., & Häggström, C. (2004).En tolkning av målen med den svenska gymnasiematematiken och tolkningens konsekvenser för uppgiftskonstruktion No. Pm nr 199). Umeå: Enheten för pedagogiska mätningar, Umeå universitet.
- Rodríguez, E., Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2008). A networking method to compare theories: metacognition in problem solving reformulated within the Anthropological Theory of the Didactic. *ZDM*, 40(2), 287-301.
- Schoenfeld, A. H. (1985). *Mathematical problem solving*. Orlando: Academic Press.
- Skolverket. (2000). Upper secondary school, Syllabuses, Mathematics. Retrieved 09/15, 2008, from http://www.skolverket.se/sb/d/190

14 Jonas Bergman Ärlebäck

Proportion in mathematics textbooks in upper secondary school

Anna L. V. Lundberg

Linköping University

Abstract. Proportional reasoning and knowledge of proportion are prerequisites for success in higher studies in mathematics. The aim of this paper is to investigate what possibilities Swedish upper secondary school textbook tasks offer students to develop knowledge about proportion during the first course in mathematics. The five textbooks investigated in this paper show a high degree of variation in "know – how" of proportional reasoning but less variation regarding knowledge about proportion.

Background

Knowledge of proportion is one of the learning goals for grade nine in Swedish compulsory school (Skolverket, 2001). However, results from TIMSS 2007 show that 50% of the students in grade eight have difficulties solving tasks about proportionality (Mullis, 2008). But we do not know how the students at upper secondary school are proportions. International managing research also shows predominance to use the linear model in solving proportion tasks in upper secondary school (De Bock, Vershaffel, & Janssens, 1998). My ongoing study attempts to shed light on various aspects of how proportion and proportional reasoning are exposed in textbooks at upper secondary school level in Sweden. According to several studies (e.g. Johansson, 2006), Swedish mathematics teachers rely on textbooks mainly in terms of exercises, making the textbook a critical factor in the classroom to study.

The aim of this paper is to present the first results from an investigation into what possibilities Swedish upper secondary school textbook tasks offer students to develop knowledge about proportion during the first course in mathematics.

Theoretical framework

This section will present the theoretical background from which the analytical tool used for this study was developed by first discussing how the notions of proportion and proportional reasoning were interpreted, then shortly outlining the theory linked to the tool, and finally presenting the tool as constituted by its four main parts.

Proportion and proportional reasoning

The term proportion is used when two quantities x and y are related by an equation y=kx, where k is a constant. Then y is said to be (directly) proportional to x, which may be written $y \propto x$ (*The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Mathematics*, 2009). It is also common to use the term proportion for some specific relations such as *direct* proportion $y = k \cdot x$, square proportion $y = k \cdot x^2$, *inverse* proportion $y = \frac{k}{x}$, *inverse square* proportion $y = \frac{k}{x^2}$ and *inverse* square root proportion $y = \frac{k}{\sqrt{x}}$.

I am also investigating proportional reasoning tasks though it is difficult to set up a general definition of proportional reasoning, maybe because proportion is such a complex concept. I will here use the description of proportional reasoning found in Lamon (2007, p. 638).

According to Cramer and Post (1993) and several other studies there are three central types of problem situations in proportional reasoning: *numerical comparison, missing value*, and *qualitative prediction & comparison*. In numerical comparison problems, the answer does not call for a numerical value. The student compares two known complete rates, as in Noelting's (1980) well known orange juice problem. Lybeck (1986) among others, found that there exist two different main solution strategies: the A-form or the so-called Within Comparison, where quantities of the same unit are compred, and B-form, a Between Comparison across different units. In missing value problems three objects of numerical information in a proportion setting are specified with a fourth number to be discovered. A popular such task is the tall-man short-man problem (Karplus, Karplus, & Wollman, 1974). The third problem situation, qualitative prediction & comparison, does not demand memorized skill. These types of

problems force the students to gain knowledge about the meaning of proportion with qualitative thinking (Cramer & Post, (1993).

Knowledge and know-how related to proportion tasks

As this study is focused on how a specific mathematical notion is treated in the school institution in terms of types of tasks and strategies, The Anthropological Theory of Didactics (ATD; see e.g. Bosch & Gascon, 2006) offers a useful approach. The ATD postulates an institutional conception of mathematical activity, starting from the assumption that mathematics, like any other human activity, is produced, taught, learned and diffused in social institutions. Mathematical work can be described in terms of mathematical organisation. A mathematical organisation (MO) is constituted by two levels, the know-how (task & techniques) and the (discursive) knowledge (technology & theory) related to a given task (Chevallard, 2006). Task - different kinds of tasks to be studied, Techniques - how to solve tasks, Technology - justification and explanation of the techniques, Theory - founding technology and justification of technology. In this study, there are influences from two MO's, one where proportion is defined as a 'dynamic' notion MO₁ and one where proportion is defined as a 'static' notion MO₂ (see below).

In order to study a phenomenon a Reference Epistemological Model (REM) should be created by the researcher (Bosch & Gascón, 2006). Otherwise it is difficult to be independent in relation to the educational institutions under study and the result may be a model that is implicitly imposed by the educational institution. The REM is a corresponding body of mathematical knowledge that is continuously developed by the research community and connected to the different steps of the didactic transposition. The transposition process describes how the mathematical knowledge is transformed from the institution of knowledge production through the educational system to the classroom (Bosch & Gascón, 2006).

The knowledge of proportion

As a REM and theory category, the two MO's of describing proportion in textbooks was used. MO₁ was observed in a pilot textbook study (Lundberg & Hemmi, 2009), where it was found that a frequent way to present proportion is by the relationship $y = k \cdot x$, where y are dependent of x and k is a fixed constant. This has been named a *dynamic notion of proportion* (Miyakawa & Winsløw, 2009), as we have different values of x as input producing specific outputs as y depending on the value of k.

Another way to describe proportion is *static* (Miyakawa & Winsløw, 2009). It is possible to identify this phenomenon in Euclid's definition of proportion (Euklides & Heath, 1956), where it is regarded as static in nature because it deals with pairs of "magnitudes" rather than numbers. A magnitude could be a length, like the diagonal of a square. For the Greeks it could not be measured in centimetres, but nevertheless multiplied in a geometric sense (e.g. enlargement). The static way of defining proportion is more general in comparison with the dynamic notion because it can be defined in n-tuples of real numbers and does not constrain proportion to pairs.

An example from a Swedish textbook (Gennow, Gustafsson, Johansson, & Silborn, 2003, p. 314) will serve as an illustration of static and dynamic definition:

"An electric radiator influences by power P (the thermal energy emitted per second) of voltage the U that the radiator has been connected to. The table shows some values of U and P that belong together. Check if there is a relation between P

and U represented by $P = k \cdot U^2$ and if so calculate k. The power has the unit Watt (W) and the voltage Volt (V).

U(V)	120	160	200	240
P(W)	144	256	400	576

Solution: To investigate $k = \frac{P}{U^2}$ we put a new row in the table.

P/U^2	0.010	0.010	0.010	0,010
(W/V^2)	,	,	,	,

We obtain the same result for all pairs. This implies that the relation can be written as $P = k \cdot U^2$ and $k = 1, 0 \cdot 10^{-2} W / V^2$. In electricity the unit W/V^2 is denoted S (Siemens). The relation can be also be written $P = \frac{U^2}{R}$ where $k = \frac{1}{R}$ and R has the unit Ω (Ohm)."

Auth transl.

In the beginning of the example the static definition is found in the table where the given data is n-tuples of U and P. In the solution it is necessary to switch to a dynamic definition because it is eligible to calculate k in order to check if there is a proportionality that can be expressed by the general formula $P = k \cdot U^2$.

The know-how in calculating proportional tasks

To investigate solution techniques for proportion tasks a study by Hersant (2005) was used because it had a lot of similarities with this study. She found six different types of techniques in her analysis of solved proportion examples in French textbooks. To show the differences between these categories of solution techniques (1-6 below, auth. transl.) I will use the following task provided by Hersant:

If 18 meters of fabric costs 189 francs, how much will 13 meters cost?

1 Reduction by unit

If 18 meters cost 189 francs, 1 meter will cost 18 times less or $\frac{189}{18}$, and 13 meters will cost 13 times more than one meter or $\frac{189}{18} \cdot 13$

where $x = \frac{189 \cdot 13}{18}$. The answer will be 136.50 francs. In context of

the theory of proportionalities, it will be justified by the characteristic of property proportion expressed here in as part of quantities. Two quantities U and V are proportional so when U is multiplied by 2, 3, $4...\lambda$ (and λ real), V is multiplied by 2, 3, $4...\lambda$.

2 Multiplication by a relationship

Now consider the following solution: If 18 meters cost 189 francs, then 13 meters will cost $\frac{13}{18}$ 189. Pay attention to that neither ratio nor proportion are used here. The technique of within measures proportion is used here.

3 Use of proportion

If we let the price for 13 meters of fabric be *x* francs then the price should be in proportion to the length of the fabric $\frac{189}{18} = \frac{x}{13}$ so, $189 \cdot 13 = 18 \cdot x$ and $x = \frac{189 \cdot 13}{18}$. This technique differs from the earlier two when the proportion involves two different measures, length and price (between measures proportion).

4 Cross multiplication

Now consider the resolution that follows: Let x be the price of 13 meters of fabric. (1) $\frac{189}{18} = \frac{x}{13}$ then (2) $189 \cdot 13 = 18 \cdot x$ and $x = \frac{189 \cdot 13}{18}$ that can be summarized as follows in a table:

Table	1.	Cross	product	table
-------	----	-------	---------	-------

189	x
18	13

So $189 \cdot 13 = 18 \cdot x$ and $x = \frac{189 \cdot 13}{18}$. In the spirit of this

technique, the equality (1) does not match proportion but more rather a technique with a formal setting of the magnitudes and detached from the theories of proportions.

5 Use of coefficient

Another way of arguing is as follows: The fabric costs $\frac{189}{18}$ francs/meters, so 13 meters of fabric cost $13 \cdot \frac{189}{18}$ francs. Here again

a reduction technique to unit is used but with no connection to proportion.

6 Other possible techniques

It is also possible to solve the task with a graphical solution method. However, if only one value is calculated it seems to be a waste of energy to use graphical technique unless you don't have access to a graphic calculator then it is very easy to sketch a graph.

Research methodology

To investigate what possibilities textbooks offer upper secondary students in Sweden to develop knowledge about proportion during the first course in mathematics, the following research questions were set up (in terms of the ATD): What types of textbook tasks involve proportion? What techniques are used in the given solutions of proportion tasks? What explanations and justifications (technologies/theory) are presented in the proportion tasks? To answer these questions, an analytic tool was developed to investigate a selection of textbooks.

In a study about proportion in textbooks, da Ponte and Marques (2007) used the Pisa Assessment Framework as an analysing tool. In the pilot study (Lundberg & Hemmi, 2009) this tool was evaluated but for my purpose the categorisation at a cognitive level was problematic, so there was a need to develop an analytic tool better suited for a text analysis.

The textbooks selected for this paper are from the A-course at the Swedish upper secondary school. The A-course is a special case because it is mandatory for all students at upper secondary school (Skolverket, 2001), selected here because it is the beginners' course for all further studies at both the theoretical and the vocational programs of upper secondary school. In Sweden there is an open market for textbooks without regulations from the authorities. There are several textbooks on the market for this course, among which I have selected the five most commonly used in my region (three municipals).See table 2.

Table 2.	The	five	analysed	Swedish	textbooks
				0	

Title

Matematik 4000 kurs A blå lärobok (Alfredsson, Brolin, Erixon, Heikne, & Ristamäki, 2007)

Exponent A röd: Matematik för gymnasieskolan (Gennow et al., 2003)

NT a+b: Gymnasiematematik för naturvetenskaps- och teknikprogrammen: Kurs A och B (Wallin, Lithner, Wiklund, & Jacobsson, 2000)

Matematik från A till E: För komvux och gymnasieskolan (Holmström & Smedhamre, 2000)

Matematik A (Norberg, Viklund, & Larsson, 2004)

The book chapters analysed were those where proportion was expected to be one of the key notions: percent, geometry, equations and functions. There was also a limitation in the equation and geometry chapter. Only tasks in the problem solving part in the equation chapter were analysed and in the geometry chapter only tasks with scale were analysed. The textbooks were investigated concerning both the knowledge and the "know-how" of proportion. The textbooks were analysed to determine what type of tasks were given (missing value, numerical comparison and qualitative prediction & comparison) and what kinds of proportion were used (direct proportion, inverse proportion, square proportion, and square root proportion). Finally, solution techniques presented in the textbooks and the knowledge of proportion (theories and technologies) related to the tasks found were investigated. Thus, in terms of the ATD, the analytic tool used for this study was comprised by the following categories:

- Task missing value, numerical comparison, qualitative prediction and comparison, static or dynamic proportion, direct proportion, square proportion, inverse proportion, inverse square proportion, and inverse square root proportion
- Technique how to solve tasks, the six categories by Hersant are used here
- Technology justification and explanation of the techniques

• Theory – the two definitions of proportion static and dynamic are used as categories here

First results

The study is still ongoing but this paper will report some first results from the textbooks that have been analysed. In this section, the first most significant observations are presented, quoting selectively from the textbooks to illustrate the main findings. In all the textbooks, the definitions of the notions are introduced by solved examples and the examples presented in this section will therefore be structured by taking the technique used as the overarching categorisation principle, before type of task and knowledge (justification) are identified.

The number of examined tasks in total for all five textbooks were 3474 (one of the books had significantly more tasks (*1195*, 859, 652, 496 & 272) than the others). The preliminary data indicate that missing value tasks occur twice as much as numerical comparison and qualitative prediction & comparison tasks. The static definition was used only in the geometry chapter and the dynamic definition of proportion was only found in the chapters about percent and functions. The equation chapter was a mix of static and dynamic proportion. There were only a few justifications found in the textbooks in the geometry section. The most prevalent type of proportion was direct proportion. However, all types of techniques described above were found, as shown by the following illustrative examples.

1 Reduction by unit

In Swedish textbooks this solution strategy is easy to find in the chapter about percent. The following example is taken from Alfredsson et al, (2007, p. 45):

```
In a municipality the number of citizens is increasing by 8% in one
year to 70 200. How many citizens were there in the municipality
before the increase?
108% is equivalent to 70 200.
1% is equivalent to \frac{70200}{108}.
100 % is equivalent to \frac{100 \cdot 70200}{108} = 65000 Auth. Transl.
```
This example is found in all the textbooks. This task is categorized as a proportional reasoning task called missing value. The MO represented is dynamic (MO_1). Direct proportion.

2 Multiplication by a relationship

This solution technique is found in the chapter about percent in several Swedish textbooks, here Liber Pyramid (Wallin et al., 2000, p. 43):

Anna has a salary of 17 250 *SEK*. She got a rise in salary with 4 %. How much is her new salary?

The new salary is 100% of the old salary and the salary rise of 4 % of the same salary. The new salary will be: 104% of 17 250 *SEK* and that will be $1,04 \cdot 17250$ *SEK* = 17940 *SEK*. *Auth Transl.*

This is a typical example in all five textbooks. I interpret this solution technique to use the same technique as in Hersant's example but here different data is used. The tasks is categorized as a missing value task and the notion of proportion is dynamic (MO_1). Direct proportion.

3 Use of proportion

This special solution technique is to be found in general in the geometry chapter. An example from a Swedish textbook (Wallin et al., 2000, p. 122):



Calculate the length of the sides *a*, *b*, *c*, and *d*. From the similarity it follows, $\frac{a}{6} = \frac{b}{4} = \frac{c}{10} = \frac{d}{4} = \frac{1}{5}$ From the first and last equality we get $\frac{a}{6} = \frac{1}{5}$, $a = \frac{6}{5} = 1,2$. In the same way we get b = 0.8, c = 2,0 and d = 0.8. *Auth. Transl.*

This category is not very common, it is only found in two textbooks. This task is analyzed as a missing value task and the notion of proportion is static (MO_2). Direct proportion.

4 Cross multiplication

This particular solution technique is found in the chapter about geometry (Alfredsson, et al., 2008, p. 153):



A very unusual solution strategy, only to be found in one textbook. This task is analysed as a missing value task and the notion is represented as a static notion (MO_2) . Direct proportion.

5 Use of coefficient

This category can be found in the function chapter (Gennow et al., 2003, p. 301):

In a physics experiment, the students were measuring mass and volume for different amounts of aluminium tacks. First, the students weighed the tacks and then they poured them into a graduated measuring glass with water. The findings from one of the groups were:

Volume $(cm^3)(V)$	12	17	22	29
38				
Mass (g) (m)	32	46	59	78
103				

Determine the density (i.e. mass/volume) of aluminium if it is in proportion.

For this proportion to be valid *k* have to be $k = \frac{m}{V}$. We chose a pair of numbers far away from the origin of coordinates to increase the accuracy, draw lines to *x* and *y* axis. Reading gives

V= 40 cm³, m = 108g, $k = \frac{108 g}{40 cm^3} = 2,7 g/cm^3$ Auth. Transl.

This category is found in all the textbooks. This task is categorized as a missing value task and the notion is static (MO_2) . Direct proportion.

6 Other possible techniques

An example of this solution technique comes from the chapter about functions (Norberg et al., 2004):

Anton buys prawns for the cost of 122 SEK / kg. Express the cost for the prawns that he buys as a function of the weight in kilograms. x = kilograms of prawns, y = the total cost, 1 kilogram of prawns costs 122 SEK. If he buys x kilograms then the cost is $k = 122 \cdot x$. Put in some different x in a table of points and sketch a graph. Auth. Transl.



This type of solution is found in all analysed textbooks. This task is categorized as a missing value task and the notion is dynamic (MO_1) . Direct proportion.

Discussion

The five textbooks investigated offer rich variation in types of tasks and techniques. The two notions of proportion (dynamic and static) are both represented but justifications are rare. Thus two MO's are presented in different chapters (percent, functions, equations and geometry) with no link pointed out between them, which can be misleading for both teachers and students in their practice and might result in a predominance of the dynamic notion. It appears that the static notion is represented to a higher extent in the chapters about geometry and the dynamic notion more in the chapter about percent and functions whereas the equation chapter is a mix of both MO's. The theoretical description of proportion appear similar in all the textbooks and not presented by way of different approaches in parallel. Proportion is also represented mainly as direct proportion with a few exceptions, which may be problematic as for example also inverse proportion is important for the further mathematics studies. Justifying technologies are very often missing. The explanation might be that justification is not a learning goal in the curriculum for this first basic course (Mathematics A). This study has also illustrated how the particular analytical tool developed for investigating tasks can be used as an instrument for what types of "knowledge" and "know-how" are represented in mathematics textbooks. This might be a benefit also for teachers in their practice by providing principles for the selection of tasks. However, if the students really take up the techniques presented in the textbook is another research issue which will be investigated in a follow-up paper about students' solutions of proportion tasks.

Acknowledgement

This study is funded by The Swedish National Graduate School in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education.

References

- Alfredsson, L., Brolin, H., Erixon, P., Heikne, H., & Ristamäki, A. (2007). *Matematik 4000 kurs A blå lärobok* (1. uppl ed.). Stockholm: Natur & Kultur.
- Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2006). Twenty five years of didactic transposition. *ICMI Bulletin*, 58, 51-65.
- Chevallard, Y. (2006). Steps towards a new epistemology in mathematics education. In M. Bosch (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 4th congress of the European society for research in mathematics education* (pp. 21-30). Barcelona: Universitat Ramon Llull.
- Cramer, K. A., & Post, T. R. (1993). Connecting research to teaching: Proportional reasoning. *Mathematics Teacher*, 86(5), 404-407.
- da Ponte, J. P., & Marques, S. (2007). Proportion in school mathematics textbooks: A comparative study. 5th Congress of ERME, the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education, (pp. 2443-2452). Larnaka, Cyprus.
- Euklides, & Heath, T. L. (1956). The thirteen books of Euclid's elements. New York: Dover.
- Gennow, S., Gustafsson, I., Johansson, B., & Silborn, B. (2003). Exponent A röd: Matematik för gymnasieskolan (1 uppl ed.). Malmö: Gleerup.
- Hersant, M. (2005). La proportionnalité dans l'enseignement obligatoire en France, d'hier à aujourd'hui. *Repéres, IREM, 59*(Avril), 5-41.
- Holmström, M., & Smedhamre, E. (2000). Matematik från A till E: För komvux och gymnasieskolan (2 uppl ed.). Stockholm: Liber utbildning.
- Karplus, E. F., Karplus, R., & Wollman, W. (1974). Intellectual development beyond elementary school IV: Ratio, the influence

of cognitive style. *School Science and Mathematics*, 74(6), 476-482.

- Lundberg, A. L. V., & Hemmi, K. (2009). Proportion in Swedish upper secondary school textbook tasks. In M. Lepik (Ed.), *Teaching mathematics: Retrospective and perspectives* proceedings of the 10th international conference (pp. 252-260). Tallinn: Tallinn University.
- Lybeck, L. (1986). Om didaktisk kunskapsbildning i matematik och naturvetenskapliga ämnen. In F. Marton (Ed.), *Fackdidaktik volym III (pp. 149-189)*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Miyakawa, T., & Winsløw, C. (2009). Didactical designs for students' proportional reasoning: An "open approach" lesson and a "fundamental situation". *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 72(2), 199-218.
- Mullis, I. V. S. (2008). *TIMSS* 2007 international mathematics report: Findings from IEA's trends in international mathematics and science study at the fourth and eighth grades. Boston: TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center.
- Norberg, A., Viklund, G., & Larsson, R. (2004). *Matematik A* (2 uppl ed.). Stockholm: Bonnier utbildning.
- "proportion". (2009). The concise Oxford dictionary of mathematics. Retrieved 01/05, 2011, from http://www.oxfordreference.com/views/ENTRY.html?subview= Main&entry=t82.e2298
- Skolverket. (2001). *Compulsory school: Syllabuses* (1st ed.). Stockholm: National Agency for Education: Fritzes.
- Wallin, H., Lithner, J., Wiklund, S., & Jacobsson, S. (2000). NTa+b: Gymnasiematematik för naturvetenskaps- och teknikprogrammen: Kurs A och B (1 uppl ed.). Stockholm: Liber.

30 Anna L. V. Lundberg

ATD and CoP in a framework for investigating social networks in physics classrooms

Jesper Bruun

Department of Science Education, University of Copenhagen

Abstract. The article presents a tool for analysing transcribed and annotated video recordings. The tool relies on a network representation of the data, where the nodes derive from categories of activities. Following a summary of the observed learning situation, it is suggested how anthropological theory of the didactical (ATD) and communities of practice (CoP) can be incorporated in the network representation in order to investigate student discussion networks in physics classrooms.

Introduction

One of the major concerns for researchers in physics education is whether the students of a given class learn physics or not. Indeed, it is not clear what it means to have learned physics. Learning physics may consist of mastering different modes/forms of representation (Dolin, 2002), or it may amount to refining and organising conceptual structures to be retrieved as appropriate (diSessa, 1993). One view is that the cognitive development of the individual learner needs to be in focus when investigating science (and therefore physics) learning. A complementary view is that learning in general, and therefore the learning of physics, is the development of shared repertoire by a group over time (Wenger, 1998). However, what the dynamics of physics learning actually is seems to be an underdeveloped area.

One strategy for shedding light on how physics is learned is to observe learning situations in physics classes where the students engage in an appropriate assignment. The assignment - and the related tasks needed to complete it - may be designed or initiated by researchers or more naturally occurring (designed or initiated by teachers or even students) in the course of a typical physics class. The aim in either case is to make a detailed analysis of a particular learning situation, in order to identify the processes by which physics is learned.

One opportunity for achieving data for such analysis is to video record students participating in group discussions about a particular physics problem. The video recordings may serve as documentation for some of the processes going on in the learning situation, and they may be analysed qualitatively or as a mixture of qualitative and quantitative data (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). With the proper use of qualitative methods and theory, such as thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006) and ATD/CoP, one should be able to identify categories consistent for the theory for a further quantitative treatment. In this paper, the quantitative treatment utilizes network theory as it is named in physics or graph theory as it is named in mathematics.

The anthropological theory of the didactic(al) (ATD) and communities of practice (CoP) are both theories aiming at understanding the activities of humans. ATD focuses on the strategies and justifications (praxeologies) for solving problems which can be abstracted from a non-individual oriented analysis of teaching, learning situations, and the materials used in them (Rodriguez et al., 2008, Artigue, 2006).

CoP on the other hand, as applied to an educational perspective, has four aspects, namely: participation/reification, designed/emergent, local/global, and negotiability/identification (Wenger, 1998), all pertaining to individuals or sets of individuals. Wenger denotes these pairs of concepts dualities, because they exist as two parts of a coin: without participation from learners existing reifications become meaningless and on the other hand reifications such as (but not exclusively) teaching materials, are the basis for participation.

Some research (Shaffer et al., 2009) suggest that observational data from a framework resembling CoP, can be described with a graph theoretical approach where appropriate categories of action in the learning situation are recorded as well as the order in which they occur. In this paper, a notion of representing observational data is pursued with the ultimate aim of making relations, similarities, and differences between ATD and CoP explicit. This is a challenging task, since the two theories have different foci.

In this work, the video recorded *activities* of four Danish high school students, one male and three female, which serve to develop a

network representation. The network shows how the dynamics of a conversation about physics can be illustrated using a set of categories. The "data" is a 400 second recording of the students engaging in a physics problem on predicting the ranking of currents at different places in an electrical circuit.

This particular situation has been selected from a larger data set (approximately 1 hour with different students), because it is suitable for a first attempt of describing a student discussion using networks, ATD, and CoP. First, the students actually engage in discussion with each other. Second, as will be shown, one student arguably changes her problem-solving strategy for a specific physics assignment, while three other students do not. Third, the technical quality of the material has enabled the researcher to clearly code the recording.

The focus in this paper is on describing learning situation as a network of categories. Also, this paper investigates the question of how physics praxeologies of ATD and shared repertoire of CoP are connected and may be captured by a network representation of the situation. Ultimately, the questions I wish to answer is, (1) what change in behaviour (utterances, gestures, actions) do the students display when about electrical current in a specific system for each of the participants and (2) what processes of communications are observable in the analysed data set?

Background

To learn science and in particular physics can be viewed as learning to work with different kinds of representation (Boulter & Buckley, 2000, Dolin, 2003). Dolin (2002) argues for seven distinct types of representation, namely the *phenomenological*, *conceptual*, *mathematical-symbolic*, *mathematical-graphical*, *experimental*, *pictorial*, and the *kinaesthetic*. To master a subject in physics is to master all the representations to some level given by the educational system.

It can be argued that at least some of the knowledge inherent in using these forms of representation is tacit. For example, an undergraduate student working with mechanics might not be aware that a specific conceptual schema is at work, when he explains how a moving object is affected by an applied force (diSessa, 1993). At some point however, the tacit knowledge in play in an observed teaching situation should be expressed by the learner in a way discernable to the observer, if this observer is to claim that learning has taken place. Otherwise, claims of learning become just that: claims. However, one must acknowledge that there can be many signs of learning taking place or of a student possessing knowledge, which are not stated verbally or explicitly written down. Gestures may play an important role in student communication, as has been shown by Roth & Lawless (2002). They found that students working with physics develop gestures which start out as actual depictions of the physical processes or objects, where the gesturing start before the actual words they utter, while they end up being short hand metaphoric versions of the same processes or objects, which are performed almost exactly at the same time as the words accompanying them. This also serves as an example that when learning, people change their behaviour in an observable way. Their actions change.

In order to quantify actions using a network approach [1], Shaffer et al. (2009) used a framework called the *epistemic frame*, claiming that a culture has a grammar composed of skills, knowledge, identity, values, and epistemology. These categories form the basis of a coding scheme, where if a subject in an activity seen from an observer's perspective as belonging to the category *skill* then the activity is labelled accordingly. Thus, these categories can be named activity categories. This framework is reminiscent of the work of Wenger (1998) where a community of practice has a shared repertoire. One difference is that the framework of Shaffer et al. has been operationalised in their work, whereas Wenger does not operationalise his theory in a specific research design. Further similarities and differences are beyond the scope of this paper, and will not be pursued further. However, their translation of the framework into a time based network description can be helpful for the present work.

From their framework Shaffer et al. (2009) make a number of categories, and put their data in to these categories. Then they analyse data one time segment, δt , at a time. If two "activity categories" are performed within δt , then a non-directed link is drawn between the two. As time passes, some nodes become more connected than others resembling the fact that some types of action are performed more often than others. Looking at the whole network, as time passes may give information on what actions are tightly linked, and what actions are more isolated.

Transferring information about learner activities from the qualitative framework of epistemic frames to the quantitative network descriptions allows for mathematical analyses of the network, which can then be reinterpreted into the qualitative framework. This allows for an evidence based assessment of the learning situation rooted in very direct way on a qualitative theory. In the case of Shaffer et al. (2009), where they analyse the actions of persons playing a learning game called *Urban Science* (see Schaffer et al. (2009) for details), they hypothesise that learning progression can be connected to the structural properties of a developing network.

Shaffer et al.'s (2009) approach is interesting to this paper. They define relevant categories on the basis of a theory and code some research material (qualitative data), and transfer these codes to a mathematically rooted network representation (quantifying the data). From the networks different structural properties of the activities are then extracted and re-interpreted in to the theory.

The theoretical frameworks used in this work are different, because they are not based on the assumptions of epistemic frames, but they also have their categories. In ATD categories describing learner activities should be discernable from relevant praxeologies (Tetchueng et al., 2008). Praxeologies consist of a theoretical block (justifications) and a practical block (the activities). The theoretical block is subdivided into a theory and technology section, while the practical block is divided into tasks and techniques (Rodriguez et al., 2008).

Students solving problems in physics as analysed by ATD requires the notion of a praxeology. To solve a problem requires the activation (or development) of an appropriate praxeology or set of praxeologies. A problem can be decomposed into a set of tasks, each of which are dealt with by some techniques, each of which are again justified by a technology, which is a way of employing theory in practice (Tetchueng et al., 2008).

Tetchueng et al. (2008) made a learning management system for teacher education where they created *predefined* task-technique pairs for solving problems. The work relies on experts defining the correct task-technique pair, and learners acquiring them. In this work, I will go the other way around. From the data, praxeologies (task-technique-technology(-theory)), should be abstracted in order to see, what problem solving strategies the students subscribe to and why.

In ATD, the term "why" refers to the disciplinary justification for using a given technique (Chevallard 2006). So, if we ask why a student enacts a given technique, we are not expecting an answer based on the student's social situation or how the student feels at that time. However, in CoP it would be a question of the shared repertoire in the community and the identity of the student (Wenger, 1998). Thus, in CoP asking why *also* entails social and identity factors.

From this it seems it seems likely that the praxeologies from ATD may fall into the shared repertoire of a community of practice, while the praxeological equipment (Rodriguez et al., 2008) of the student would be part of the students' identity. Here, the praxeological equipment is interpreted as the praxeologies available for a student to enact in a given context.

However, this author believes that disciplinary praxeologies are not exhaustive when dealing with the dimensions of a learning situation (see Wenger, 1998, chapter 12) as seen from a CoP point of view. This is because the CoP aspects of learning include more than the disciplinary aspect, for example student motivation and studentstudent relations. The following summary aims both at describing the disciplinary part of the students' discussion, but with a focus on the individuals and at highlighting some of the student-student interaction.

Short description of the learning situation

Four students are working on an assignment where they are to rank the currents (predict the read-outs of four ampere meters) in an electrical system. The electrical system is represented on-line in an interactive computer model. The assignment is on a piece of paper given to the students by the teacher. The setup is shown in Figure 1.

The assignment is to predict the ranking of the ampere meters, observe if the ranking is correct by consulting the computer model [2], and finally they should explain the result. However, in the process of predicting, the students explain their thinking to each other. Thus, they rather suggest predictions to each other, discuss and explain their predictions, and finally check that they have the correct answer.



Figure 1. The student setup. Catherine (C), and Elin (E) are wearing glasses with built-in video and audio recorders, while James (J) and Idun (I) are not. They are sitting around a table, with laptops and assignment papers in front of them. Idun has a small table on the side. The resolution of the video recording is such that one can see what a student writes on a piece of paper provided that the lighting is suitable.

The circuit given in the assignment is described in Figure 2 along with an explanation of the solution.

The two video cameras deserve mentioning. They are integrated in the frame of a set of sunglasses along with a microphone. The actual glasses have been removed leaving only the frame. The resolution of the camera is 800x600 pixels; it adjusts to lighting conditions, and records at 30 frames per second. In good lighting it is possible to see what a student writes on a piece of paper, or how she uses the mouse on a computer screen. The microphone makes it possible to hear what the wearer says clearly, and to some extend what a person a meter away is saying. In the configuration shown in Figure 1, it is possible to synchronize the two cameras audio output to enhance the sound quality. This makes it possible to hear almost everything being said around the table.



Figure 2. (a) The circuit given in the assignment. The circles with X's in them represent light bulbs with equal resistance, and the A's represent the ampere meters. One solution to the assignment relies on use of Ohm's law, knowledge on how to calculate the resistance in a parallel connection, and Kirchoffs current law. (b) A division of the circuit into it's constituent parts. The resistance of each part is given below the drawings. Since the resistance of $R_4 < R_3$ it follows $A_4 > A_3$ The resistance of R_{12} is calculated that as 1 3 1 $\mathbf{R}^+ \mathbf{2R}^- \mathbf{2R}_{.}$ Note! In (b) the first two parts will be R_{12} referred to as the main parts .

Here is a summary of the main points in the discussion as derived from the transcript and annotations: In the beginning of the clip Catherine states the ranking: $A_2 > A_4 > A_4 > A_2$, where the first inequality is wrong since $A_4 > A_5$ (see Figure 2). In the proceeding discussion James argues (correctly) for switching A_5 and A_4 . Catherine's approach is initially to find the ranking by looking at pathways for the electrons to travel, while James has calculated the resistance of to two main loops. James convinces Catherine, and explains - to both her and Elin - in words and with extensive use of gestures, how to perform the calculations he has used to solve the problem. During the discussion, Elin tries to understand what's going on, while Idun is almost absent in the discussion. At the end of the clip, Elin asks Catherine to explain the calculations, and Catherine does this.

With respect to the forms of representations (Boulter & Buckley, 2000, Dolin, 2003) Catherine uses, they can be regarded as a mix of conceptual, visual, and kinaesthetic (gestural). The conceptual form involves the theories, concepts and generalizations she uses to explain her thinking. She frequently uses the visual representation on the paper and on the screen as a support for her suggestions, and she does this mainly by gesturing with her hand/pencil. Because the visual and kinaesthetic forms seem auxiliary in this case, her approach is denoted *conceptual*.

While a conceptual approach is not wrong, Catherine does make explicit a limited conceptual understanding of the nature of electrons in a circuit. She says that the electron(s) go where there *are fewer light bulbs*. When applied to the ampere meters A_{2} and A_{4} this understanding yield wrong predictions. Later she changes her explanation by using a different and more correct statement: where there is least resistance.

James makes explicit during the discussion how he has calculated the resistances: He identified the two parallel connections in the drawing (Figure 2). He calculated the resistance of the smaller of the two parallel connections, the one labelled **R**₁₂ in Figure 2. Then he added this resistance to the resistance of the remaining light bulb in that part of the circuit, yielding **R**₄. In the discussion, he argues that since **R**₄ is smaller than **R**₂, the current running through **A**₄ is larger than the current running through **A**₄.

From the perspective of the "learning" which can be observed, James does not show (much) evidence that he has learned how to solve the problem. He has already learned how to do the calculations, has done them, and thus the task he saw and the technique activates during the clip are already developed.

His contribution is to tell the others (mainly Catherine) how to perform calculations and how to transfer the pictorial representation to a set of mathematical representations. Thus, he may have learned how to communicate his knowledge about how to perform the calculation of currents in the circuit shown in Figure 2.

Since Elin needs to ask Catherine how to solve the problem at the end of the clip, she doesn't seem to have learned how to solve the problem. Catherine begins the clip with a partially wrong statement. She has seen another task than James and uses another technique to engage with it. She not only changes her own explanation, but can explain why to Elin towards the end of the recordings. Therefore, she shows that she can enact the task-technique pair which James explained to her.

Of course, one can argue that Catherine just needed a nudge; that James actually learned something new from Catherine's representation; and that Elin is in the process of learning. These claims however, need to be substantiated either by a more extended observation period where they solve new problems, and/or by a more detailed analysis of the data. Another possibility is pursued in the following.

Network description of the learning situation

The goal with a network description is to gain knowledge about the learning situation, which is not as apparent from a linear representation of the transcripts and annotations. In the annotation process, three categories have been predefined for each participant, namely *spoken words, actions*, and *gestures*.

These three categories represent what is observable on the video: a participant speaks and/or performs an action. An action may be a (non-facial) gesture, a facial gesture, or some other action. While spoken words, gestures, and actions are described below, facial gestures have been left out for simplicity of analysis. As will be discussed later, these categories could be further subdivided in to more specific ones, such as the gesture for the fraction 2/3.

A *spoken word activity* begins when the first word is uttered, and ends with a natural pause from the student, for example if the student stops for a brief moment of time to think or when the student is interrupted by another student. The difference between action and gesture is not well defined, but as a rule of thumb an action here is some sort of movement which is not linked to linguistic meaning, while gestures are. Gestures may be for example pointing at a drawing of the circuit in question while talking, drawing a fraction in the air, or accentuating one's words with the hand. All these examples relate to something linguistic, while a repositioning of the hand or grabbing a pencil does not. Also, changing the direction of ones vision is regarded as an action.



Figure 3. A crude network representation of the transcribed and annotated data. Each of the students, have been assigned three activity categories: words, gestures, and actions. The difference between gestures and actions is not clear. Actions are movements, which are not tied to linguistic meaning. Thus pointing with a pen while explaining how to do calculations is a gesture, while turning ones head, or repositioning the hand are actions. The size of a node is proportional to the time spent doing the activity the node represents. The thickness of the links, are proportional to the number of times one activity is followed by the same type of activity. Note that the links are directed. The positions of the nodes have no immediate significance. They are the result of an algorithm which tries to minimize overlaps between links.

Using a video annotation program [3] capable of frame by frame analysis of both video and audio makes it possible to very accurately decide what type of activity begins first. It is thus possible to decide for example whether a gesture comes before spoken words or vice versa. Meticulously marking all spoken word, gesture, and action activities from their beginning to their end also yields the total time spent for each student on each activity. Figure 3 shows a network representation of the transcribed and annotated data. It is a very crude representation, which quantifies how many times different actitivites follow each other (speech, action, and gesture), and how much time is used on a given type of act. Even though it is a crude representation, it still reveals information about the situation. First of all, Idun is not present in the representation. This is because she barely says anything, so her nodes would be markedly smaller than all the others. Second, words are most abundant, and Catherine and James utter most words. James uses the most gestures, followed by Catherine. Elin does not use any gestures during the period of observation. Elin performs most actions, a lot of which is switching between looking at James and Catherine.

Integrating ATD and CoP in the network

As seen from the perspective of ATD the important information is what praxeologies are under development and which ones survive the learning situation. If a network description is to be relevant to ATD, it needs to capture the different parts of the praxeologies as they play out. Also, one can view the learning situation above as a battle between two praxeologies. During the time of observation, two main techniques are in play, namely Catherine's conceptual technique and James' mathematical-pictorial technique. See Table 1 for a description of them.

A lot of time is used explaining and discussing James' technique. In fact, most of the conversation represented by the large nodes of James' words and Catherine's words and the arrows between these two categories, is devoted to the discussion of James' technique. It appears to be desirable to the other students to learn, even though Catherine at some point expresses a more correct version of her original technique. This is apparent in the video clips where Idun asks the others to explain their thinking later, and Elin asks Catherine to explain the technique to her.

The network depicted in Figure 3 does not capture these praxeologies, but may serve to overview some of the dynamics of the situation. Clearly, most of what is going on is a discussion between James and Catherine, with some input from Elin. Due to the fact that James uses a lot of gestures while explaining, one can also see a notable connection between his use of words and gesture. The gestures are usually short handed, meaning that they occupy a small amount of space and time (Roth & Lawless, 2002). Since the time used on gesture is small compared to words, gestures are not represented by a large node in the network.

Also, Elin does not use any gestures, but has a fairly big action node. This is because she spends a lot of time looking back and forth between James, Catherine, her notes, and to a limited extent, her computer. While this can also be discerned from watching and annotating the video material, the network representation makes the time spent on action/gesture/spoken words very explicit in a quantitative way. As such, this *particular* network representation can give an overview with some of the qualities of graphs, histograms and number tables. But it is also a graphical representation of the structure of the communication, which may serve qualitative purposes.

The question to ask is what observational categories would allow us to capture the praxeologies in play or under development in the learning situation (for example the ones shown in Table 1). First, students' words and gestures are important indicators. That is, what the students explicitly say and do, tells us both about their techniques and their justification for these techniques. James, for example seems to use a circling gesture a lot while explaining how he identified the parts of the parallel circuit. That is, he circles the parts of the circuit he is talking about. Catherine argues, as mentioned that *electrons want to go where there is least resistance*. The light bulbs are always referred to as R, that is resistors, and not light bulbs. These three examples could be converted to categories in a network representation with a focus on the disciplinary strategies and justifications of the students, because they are used many times by the student to express their thoughts.

The dynamics by which the praxeologies are developed by students is a different area than the description of praxeologies. It can be argued that one has to go into the dynamics of groups to see how this happens. These dynamics may be particular for the individuals in the group, but like disciplinary praxeologies exist beyond the individual student, so might group dynamics (social praxeologies?) exist which can be abstracted from the particular.

As seen from a CoP perspective, praxeologies could be a part of the shared repertoire of some community of practice, since the shared repertoire includes (but is not limited to) routines, words, tools, symbols, gestures, and concepts (Wenger, 1998). These are all part of

Table 1. A list of the three praxeologies which the students enact to answer the assignment. The formulations are re-wordings of the students own utterances. The middle one is a more correct version of Catherine's praxeology. In ATD literature Θ denotes the theory part, θ the technology, τ the technique, and T the task (see e.g. Tetchueng et al., 2008).

Catherine (initial)	Conceptual	James	
(Θ ⁻ : N/A)	(Θ: Current as a fluid, conservation of charge, Kirchoff's current law)	(Θ : Ohm's law, Kirchoff's voltage and current laws.)	
θ : Current (movement of many electrons) is equivalent to the path of a single electron.	 θ: Current consists of many electrons. Offering many pathways limits queueing. 	θ : Constant voltage for two main parts. Ohm's law used on each main part.	
τ : Follow the lines of the diagram. At a junction, evaluate which path leads to fewest light bulbs.	τ : Follow the lines of the diagram. At a parallel connection, electrons have more paths than at a serial.	 τ: Mark the parts that are parallel (serial). τ: Use appropriate formula 	
T ⁻ : Follow the current and identify path with fewest light bulbs.	T: Follow the current and identify path of least resistance.	T: Identify the parallel and serial connections. T: Calculate the	
		resistance.	
Assignment: Rank the ampere meters in the circuit shown in Figure 2. Then, observe the correct prediction. Explain your thinking.			

the negotiation of meaning, which is a crucial concept in learning, as seen from Wenger's point of view. It may be that a set of praxeologies in use in a certain institution overlaps with the shared repertoire of communities of practice embedded in the institution. The analysis at hand can be seen as the clash of two praxeologies. One of them looses terrain during the clip, but the two do not inherently exclude each other. They could both be part of the praxeological equipment of the students.

Say that the four students in this clip formed a short lived community of practice. It may never be assembled again, if the four students never work in a group again with the shared enterprise of solving physics problems. However, one may expect that James for example is part of a larger and more lasting community of practice – *the boys in the class* [4]. If James were to learn the conceptual praxeology, he could bring it with him to the community of practice consisting of the boys in the class. If it was used by the other boys as well, it would then be part of the shared repertoire of their community of practice.

In Wenger's frame work, the negotiation of meaning relies on whatever means for mutual engagement and reifications are available to the learners. As seen from this perspective, the paper, the computers, and other objects are possible nodes in the network, but $\mathbf{2}$

also the fraction $\overline{\mathbf{3}}$, which the students refer to many times, both in words and in gesture.

A possible extension of the categories in order to gain a new perspective on student interactions would be to use Wenger's (1998) four aspects relevant to the learning situation. For each of these, one could find relevant categories to put in the network description, thus expanding one's analysis of the student interactions.

Summary

A 400 second long learning situation was analysed with the purpose of developing a network description of the dynamics and praxeologies in play. A crude network representation was presented, along with both a description of some of the praxeologies in play and a short-hand qualitative description of the dynamics of the situation. These descriptions were used to produce suggestions for node categories in further analysis of this and other learning situations. Further work should focus on extending these categories and on relating them to what the students learning progress.

End notes

1. Networks consist of a number of nodes (circles) and links (lines between circles). Links can be either directed or nondirected. One use for networks are social networks, where the nodes represent people, and the links resemble interaction. See Sneppen (2006) for further details.

2. An English version of the software can be found here:

http://www.phy.ntnu.edu.tw/ntnujava/index.php?PHPSESSI D=7095d39b86bb20a46ce8195c88c63e2c&topic=1500.msg 5680#msg5680

- 3. The software used here is ELAN, which can be downloaded here: <u>http://www.lat-mpi.eu/tools/elan/</u>
- 4. Incidentally the boys in this class where tightly knit together. They sat close to each other in other class room situations and when asked who they work with in physics, they always named each other.

References

- Artigue, M. (2002). Learning mathematics in a CAS environment: the genesis of a reflection about instrumentation and the dialectics between technical and conceptual work. *International Journal of Computers for Mathematical Learning* 7, 245–274.
- Boulter, C. J. & Buckley, B. C. (2000). Constructing a Typology of Models for Science Education. In Gilbert, J. K. & Boulter, C. J. (eds.) Developing Models in Science Education, (pp. 41-58). Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Press
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. Using thematic Analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*, 77-101.
- Chevallard, Y. (2006). Steps towards a new epistemology in mathematics education. In M. Bosch (Ed.), Proceedings of the IVth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education (pp.21-30). Barcelona: Universitat Ramon Llull.
- diSessa, A. (1993). Towards an Epistemology of Physics. Cognition and Instruction, 10, 105-225.
- Dolin, J. (2003). Fysikfaget i forandring: Læring og undervisning i fysik i gymnasiet med fokus på dialogiske processer, autenticitet og kompetenceudvikling (Doctoral dissertation). Roskilde University, Roskilde, Denmark.
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: a research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, 33(7), 14-26.

- Rodriguez, E., Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2008). A networking method to compare theories: metacognition in problem solving reformulated within the anthropological theory of the didactic. *ZDM Mathematics Education*, 40, 287-301
- Roth, W. M., & Lawless, D. V. (2002). How does the body get into the mind? *Human studies*, 25, 333-358
- Shaffer, D. W., Hatfield, D., Svarovsky, G. N., Nash, P., Nulty, A., Bagley, E., Frank, K., Rupp, A. A., Mislevy, R. (2009). Epistemic Network Analysis: A Prototype for 21st-Century Assessment of Learning. *International Journal of Learning and Media* 1(2), 1-22
- Sneppen, K. (2006). Networks. Retrieved from The Niels Bohr Institute, Physics of Complex Systems – 2009, Course materials web site: http://www.complex.nbi.dk/courses/kimnotes.pdf
- Tetchueng, J.-L., Garlatti, S., Laube, S. (2008). A context-aware learning system based on generic scenarios and the theory in didactic anthropology of knowledge. *International Journal of Computer Science & Applications*. 5(1), 71-87
- Wenger, E. (1998). Communities of practice learning, meaning, and identity. New York: Cambridge University Press

48 Jesper Bruun

A Study of Problem Solving Oriented Lesson Structure in Mathematics in Japan

Yukiko Asami-Johansson

University of Gävle, Sweden

Abstract. This paper presents and analyses "Mondaikaiketsu no jugyou", the problem solving oriented – approach which is a set of didactic techniques with the aim of motivating the students' positive attitude toward engaging in mathematical activities and fostering mathematical thinking. As an analytical tool, The Anthropological Theory of Didactics will be applied.

Introduction

Teaching methods were developed differently in Japan compared to other industrialized countries. Hiebert, Stigler and Manaster (1999) analysed, by studying videos from the material in the TIMSS study, differences in teaching methods and interaction in the classrooms between Japan, Germany and the United States. They argue that Japanese teachers emphasize mathematical thinking, in particular, the development of the pupils' attitudes toward and ability to communicate mathematics, rather than mathematical skills as a goal for the lessons and choose problems starting the lesson that can be solved by varying methods developed during previous lessons. This goal is reached by having the students discuss with the teacher and peers on the settlement options. I will call this type of didactic techniques, where students work on whole-class problem solving, for *problem oriented lesson structure* (POLS).

A basic problem in mathematics education, and in the training of teachers, is to find ways how to organise the classroom work so as to make the students active learners of mathematics, without losing the focus on the mathematical content. Japanese teaching methods, like the ones described, have attracted attention in Sweden lately (Dagens Nyheter, 2009), and it has been discussed as a possible model to develop in Swedish school system.

Kazuhiko Souma is one of the teacher educators/researchers who has proposed and introduced POLS. He calls his method "The problem solving oriented" approach (shortened to PSO; the author's translation; "Mondaikaiketsu no jugyou", in Japanese). The PSO approach is a set of didactic techniques, with motivation based on psychological aspects of learning. Its purpose, like POLS, is to enhance the students' attitude towards engaging in mathematical activities in the classroom. In Japan, there is a tradition of publishing practical books for mathematics teachers as the target group. This inspirational literature, often written by practising teachers, aim to present ideas and concrete lesson plans, based on well-constructed mathematical problems, that connects to the proposed teaching methods (Souma, 1995; Kunimune & Koseki, 1999, Tsubota, 2007), There are number of practical books for teachers in Japan showing examples of possible lesson plans. Souma has written and edited a number of such books and his method is actively and widely used by teachers in service in Japan, but has received little attention from the academic community, perhaps because of its practical attribute and the lack of clear theoretical base. The lack of theoretical overhead is perhaps part of the appeal, but is certainly also a problem when one is to describe and assess such approaches. As a tool, I will use the anthropological theory of didactics (ATD) developed by Y. Chevallard (2006). ATD supplies a framework for the analysis of how the didactic process relates to and transforms the mathematics taught in educational institutions and the didactic process is described as an organised collective work aiming to construct a mathematical organisation (MO).

I conjecture that PSO could make a powerful impact during preservice teacher education due to its distinct didactical structure, but the lack of theoretical base is a hinder. The aim of my paper is therefore to present and analyse PSO in relation to other Japanese POLS approaches, where I incorporate ATD as a tool for the epistemological description, with the assumption that, this is useful for the purpose of didactic planning. To illustrate, I will analyse an episode of practical application of PSO in a Japanese classroom.

Background to the PSO approach

The Anthropological Theory of Didactics

The anthropological theory of didactics (ATD) approaches learning as institutional issues. Mathematics learning can be modelled as the construction, within a context of social institutions of interlinked *praxeologies* of mathematical activity, which is also called a mathematical organisation (MO) (Chevallard, 1999 in Barbé, et al., 2005). A praxeology is described by its *tasks* and *techniques* (*praxis*), together with its *technology* and *theory* (*logos*). Technology constitutes the tools for discourse on and justification of the techniques and the theory provides further justification of the technology and connections to other MOs.

The process, under which a mathematical praxeology is constructed within educational institutions, is called the *didactic process* (ibid.). Chevallard proposes to describe it as being organised in six "moments" that can be thought of as different modes of activity in the study of mathematics. The moments are: (FE) the moment of *first encounter* (or re-encounter) of tasks associated to the praxeology, (EX) the *exploratory* moment of finding and elaboration of techniques suitable to the tasks, (T) the *technical-work* moment of using and improving techniques are assessed and technological discourse is taking place, (I) the *institutionalisation* moment where one is trying to identify and discern the elaborated MO, (EV) the *evaluation* moment which aims to examine the value of the MO.

To organise the work of achieving an appropriate MO, control the didactic process, the educator develop a *didactical organisation* (DO) with techniques to design a didactic process. It is possible to use ATD to describe a didactic organisations, in terms of praxis and logos block, independently of whether the studied DO's have ATD incorporated as an epistemological model, but in this paper I will attempt to use ATD to describe and motivate the techniques in the DO proposed by Souma. Thus, in a way, propose an *extension* of the DO named PSO, with a technological-theoretical block from ATD.

Souma, like most Japanese writers of this genre, often points out the need for general didactic techniques, like giving generosity with positive feedback in order to handle the long-term didactic goals, such as "fostering the students to active learners of mathematics". The motivation is usually taken from a technological-theoretical block, which could be referred to as "didactical common sense", where the epistemological model is usually a concrete description of the mathematical situation. In this description I will incorporate the "motivational" technology as "qualitative measures" on the didactic process, like the degree of *participation* in the didactic process. A more problematic, but central, recurring term is that of "mathematical activity", which is a concept that measures the degree of participation, interest, independence and motivation with which students are carrying out the mathematical work. A technological term I will use is *"invigorate* the didactic process" to mean, "increasing the *activity*" of the didactic process.

The PSO lesson template and technological terms

I will here describe PSO in the form of a "lesson plan template". Souma states that it is instrumental that the PSO approach is applied with the same basic form regularly. The motivation is that familiarity with the situation makes the students feel more secure in participating in the discourse and engaging in the didactic process.

According to Souma's example from his book (1995), a typical POLS lesson starts with a teacher giving a problem, for instance, "Show that the difference of the squares of two integers that follow each other is equal to the sum of the two numbers $(5^2 - 4^2 = 9 = 5 + 4, 24^2 - 23^2 = 24 + 23$ and so on)." The students try to solve the task and some students who have solved the task write their answers on the blackboard. Then the students explain their solution orally. Souma wonders (pp. 103-104) if the students in this situation will feel a "necessity" to reflect upon the task. Furthermore, some students might not get any ideas on how to solve the problem and will therefore become alienated from the discourse. As an alternative, he proposes the following variation: The teacher writes down expressions on the blackboard without any comments;

$$5^2 - 4^2 = 9$$
, $24^2 - 23^2 = 47$, $(-9)^2 - (-10)^2 = -19$

and asks the students what they can observe. All students are supposed to be able find such observations, perhaps working in groups. Students may answer "It becomes odd numbers", "The differences equal the sum of the integers", "The differences equals the first integer times two minus one", "The last integer times two plus one". After the response of the students, the teacher then controls that all proposals are correct on the blackboard and says; "Now we try to prove each of the statements". Ideally, the formulated problems have many possible roads to solutions: Several students may use the formula for expanding the square of a sum; and several others, using x to the first integer and y for the second integer, the rule of the conjugate.

Souma proposes to use a didactic technique, which I refer to as *guessing*. One should, regularly, let all students guess an answer, state hypotheses or formulate questions about the phenomena. It is implied that the "guess" is something that all students can participate in. In the example the students are not, strictly speaking, guessing an answer, but they are invited to, discover patterns by themselves, make hypotheses about the phenomena and by implication set their own tasks. By committing to make a guess or a hypothesis, especially in the social context of the class, the student will have a stronger motivation to study the task and follow it up. Thus using guessing will *invigorate* the didactical process.

In his book (1997), Souma declares that he is inspired by John Dewey's theory of reflective thinking. Dewey (1933) presents five cognitive phases of problem solving. 1. Recognize the problem. 2. Define the problem. 3. Generate hypotheses about the phenomena. 4. Use reasoning if the hypotheses are viable to solve the problem. 5. Test the most credible hypotheses. Dewey's theory has a general scope and is applicable to any problem context. It is also concerned with the cognitive dimensions, rather than the didactic process as such. Souma states that educators in mathematics may have a tendency to hurry up to address the later phase to "use reasoning". In this way, the development of reflective thinking and motivation may be impeded. Souma thus feels that it is necessary to pay attention especially to the first three phases. He expresses that (1997), from Dewey's theory, we may infer that it is important that we should "(a) have an aim for why we solve the task, (b) feel a necessity to solve the task and (c) have made hypotheses before starting the reasoning process." (p. 34) Souma also refers to Polya's (1957) cognitive theories on problem solving and, in particular, Polya's insistence on the importance of guessing. Polya states that our hypothesis may of course be wrong, but the process of examining the guess should lead to improved hypotheses and a deeper understanding.

The focus on motivation on the first encounter and the exploration, together with the insistence on a well defined mathematical content, is perhaps the point that, most distinctively, sets PSO apart from other proposed DO's in the POLS tradition. Souma states that the teacher much take care to plan how the problem is presented and how students are supposed to act in relation to the presented problem. Souma names (1987) the type of tasks a teacher should aim at, "openclosed" tasks. It means that the tasks, apart from stimulate conjecture and application of guessing, should lead to multiple methods of solution etc., be constructed so as to later stimulate a discourse on

theory that should stay somewhat focused on the well-defined subject that the teacher aims to cover. In ATD terms one can say the task should be "closed" so as to give a well defined and *controlled* vector from the (FE), the moment first encounter, to (EX) and (T), and also a predictable outcome during the following discourse, which usually would concern the establishing of the technological-theoretical environment (TT). The task should also be "open", by giving the student a chance to make individual choices during the exploring, and later give ample material for discussion, so as to invigorate the didactic process.

Souma means that, starting from standard tasks in the ordinary textbooks of mathematics, the teacher can modify parts of the tasks or change the way of stating them as in the example we saw. If the tasks presented during a sequence of lessons, are carefully constructed, it can lead to conjectures, new problems and methods that productively connects the local MO's covered to more global ones and inspire to technological and theoretical discourses on higher-level MOs. This type of didactic design can be compared to the ideas proposed in Garcia, et al.. (2006) of designing the didactic/study process so that it constructs, in the end, "integrated and connected" MOs.

This insistence on open-endedness of the task is common with the "open approach method" (Nohda, 1991) is a proposed variant of POLS. The open approach method is used and analysed by Japanese educators (Hino, 2007). Open-ended problems often take the form of formulating a mathematical model and will therefore lead to multitude of, problem formulation solutions and answers. The intent is to let students develop and express different approaches and to let them reflect on their own ideas by seeking to grasp those of their Winsløw, (Mivakawa & 2009). Souma peers (Personal Communication, 2010) judges the open-approach method as something that can not be used in everyday school mathematics. Souma states that POLS lessons applying too ambitious open-ended problems might be isolated from ordinary lessons that, for instance, aim to train students' basic mathematical skills, but Souma (1987) acknowledge this type of projects at the end of a course. Nohda also notifies that "We do the teaching with the open-approach once a month as a rule" (Nohda, 1991, p. 34). Bosch et al. (2007) have discussed the danger with open-ended activities, which are often introduced at school without any connection to a specific content or discipline. They state that this type of didactic technology suffers the risk of causing the construction of very punctual mathematical organisations, since this is what students are trained to study.

If we return to the lesson template and the example, the teacher should let students who have different types of solutions present their problem in class. The teacher then leads the class to discuss the reason behind each method and have the students determine which of the techniques they have used and why. This is the didactic technology of *whole class discussion* of solutions, which PSO has in common with POLS in general. The discussion of alternative solutions gives an opportunity to establish and reinforce technological and theoretical components of the MO studied, like in this case, the expansion of the square, the rule of the conjugate and the different use of variables, i.e, steering the didactic process into (TT), where new methods and techniques are approved. The class discussion also serves the purpose of increase participation and invigorating the didactic process.

After this, Souma recommends that the students have an opportunity to reflect upon the mathematical theory. The teacher can point out what they have learned by having a student read out from the textbooks explanations of the theory relevant for the lessons. During this the theoretical reflection, the teacher can steer the didactic process towards, say, (I) institutionalisation or (EV) evaluation. Souma states firmly (Souma 1997) that studies in mathematics should be organised and based on a well-written textbook that gives a clear explanation of the mathematical definitions and theories. The classroom discourse is only one form of the study process, the study of mathematics will always entail individual studies and individual problem solving inside or out of school. Moreover, the textbook allows the students to recognize and get familiar with the theory, which the textbooks usually explain in more full detail. In other words, the *textbook* technique is proposed, for the purpose of further covering of the moments (TT), (I) and (EV).

A mathematical problem oriented class in Japan

The following episode illustrates a mathematical problem oriented lesson where the teacher practices the PSO approach. This study take place during a lesson study in grade eight at a lower secondary school affiliated to the School of Education in Asahikawa, Japan, 2009. The teacher is a former Masters student of Souma. The number of students in this class is 40. The lesson is about how to solve a system of linear equations and is the third lesson on this topic. The students have already studied the addition method by solving linear equations obtained from word problems with an everyday life character. The lesson plan was written and distributed by the teacher to us observers beforehand. Posing the mathematical tasks and problems presented during the lesson is common with the POLS based lesson plans, but distinct to PSO is, that it is always written "students possible conjectures" and "students possible solutions", so that teachers always prepare different didactic responses depending on which act students take (Souma, personal communication, 2010).

In the guidebook of Japanese national curriculum standards "The curriculum guidelines" (2008) for mathematics for Japanese secondary school, a system of linear equations with two variables is described (p. 90) as follows: "Solving a linear equation with two unknowns is to make clear that this can be done by using a method that eliminates one of the two variables and then solve equations with one unknown, which is a method students already know". Thus, the didactic transposition of the praxeology "System of linear equations" to the knowledge to be taught in class (Chevallard, 1985 in Bosch & Gascón, 2006), focuses here on the technique of elimination; reducing the pair of two variables equations to one equation with one unknown. Techniques and technological terms present are substitution, row operations, isolation, coefficients, variables, etc. which are collected from the theoretical base of "Elementary algebra".

The lesson

As the first step, the teacher shows the problem by verbally reading out a system of linear equations; $\{7x + 3y = 30, x - 5y = 26\}$ and the students are asked to copy this in writing. He asks: "There are two boys, Taro and Jiro, who both solved this problem. Taro said, "I eliminate x". Jiro said, "I eliminate x as well". Their answers were the same, but their methods of the solutions are different. Today's task is to consider how they solved the problem differently". The teacher does not show the techniques; the students must consider the possible techniques, which obviously is not only one.

The teacher gives them a few minutes ("individual thinking activity" –according to the lesson plan) and encourages them to find as many solutions as possible. He states in lesson plan that this is especially meant for the gifted students who find solutions quickly. The teacher picks up two students who have obtained different techniques and lets those two students write their solutions on the blackboard. The teacher asks the class how many of them used the technique one of the two students has used. The students raise the hands and it is 37 of them. The teacher asks what is the name of this technique and gets the answer "the addition method" which the class already learned at the previous lessons. The teacher asks the class how this technique

works. A student answers "Change the coefficient to the same and erase one of the variable". The student who has written the solution on the black board explain her reasoning how she has "changed the coefficient". She says, "x's coefficient must be changed, so I multiplied it by 7". The teacher responds, -"OK, you multiplied by 7 and got the same coefficient for all the x:s". He changes his voice tone a little and then asks "And then, (looks around the class) *what can you do* with the x?" Several students respond, "We can *eliminate* the x".

They later discuss the other solution technique called the "substitution method", He inquires again how many of the students came up with an example of that technique (17; -many of them used both methods), and asks for the name of the technique, and then lets the students explain how the technique works. (Some students might already have learned about the technique at "Juku" – a private school offering special classes held on weekends and after regular school hours.) The teacher later asks if there are any students who found variants of the addition method, with an intention to let the students be aware to variation of techniques of the addition method. One student presents his solution by multiplying with 1/7 to 7x + 3y = 30, instead of multiplying by -7 to x - 5y = 26. This presentation awakes a big discussion in the class if it is not a bit too complicated. The teacher concludes the discussion encourage the student with: "But it worked? Didn't it?"

After the class has had this look at the two different techniques, the teacher lets one student read out loud a passage from the chapter in the textbook, explaining the substitution method. The students work out three to five textbook problems using the substitution method from the book. Afterwards, the teacher asks the class "In which types of problem do you use the addition method and in which types do you use the substitution method?" He lets the students write down their reasoning. The students are then encouraged to *create* several examples of problems they think fit each technique and different proposals are then later discussed.

ATD analysis of the lesson

The purpose of this lesson is to introduce the substitution method and compare it with it to the addition method and to show that both methods reduce the system to the one-variable one-equation case. In his lesson plan, the teacher writes that "The aim of the task" is to "make the students *find out* there is an another method than addition method through mentioning that two boys use different methods". He asks how to reconstruct the solution of two boys, instead of asking

them "Solve this system of linear equations using substitution method". This is an instance of the Souma's guessing technique, since all students are assumed to be able to use the addition method and students are requested to make proposals rather than fixed answers. This is also an example of an "open-closed" tasks; with alternative solutions, but a limited number of possible outcomes. As intended, the task steer the didactic process from (FE) to (EX) and (TT), since it is about finding a new technique, where (TT) is mainly covered during the whole class discussion. The task will also entail (T), technical work, since the students should solve the system with the chosen method. The teacher stimulates *participation* by having all students report which method they have followed. In the discourse, the teacher takes care to make the students use the correct technological terms, like "addition method", "substitution method", and the use of "eliminate" rather than "erase". Much of the same holds for the final task when they are asked to construct suitable problems for each method. None of these tasks are intended in the MO to be taught, but are the result of a didactic transposition with the intention to reinforce the actually taught MO (Barbé, et al., 2005). As proposed by Souma, reflection on theory is carried out when one student read out loud from the textbook. This steers the didactic process to the moment of (I), so the class verifies now what they have done during the lesson. More (T) is covered when the students work on problems in the textbook.

Discussion and Conclusion

One can summarise Souma's approach as one firmly grounded in the POLS tradition: He argues for the didactic techniques of presenting problems followed by whole-class discussion, theoretical reflection and the use of textbooks. The main difference with POLS in general is the technique of guessing and that Souma stress the need for *open-closedness* when it comes to task construction. Souma's theoretical motivation is pedagogical and based on Dewey's model for the "reflective thinker" and Polyas' cognitive theory. They both focus on the cognitive process of individuals of improved hypotheses and a deeper understanding, rather than the construction of knowledge in a social context.

Like ATD, the PSO takes the organisation of the mathematical content of the study process seriously. I make an attempt to describe PSO using the descriptive potential of ATD to describe the DO proposed by Souma and also to use ATD as en epistemological model to describe the learning object and the learning process: The didactic techniques proposed in the POLS tradition suggest a way to *invigorate* the classroom discourse and PSO, in particular, focuses on how to start up the didactic process using the guessing technique by adding the elements of conjecture, construction and choice from the start, stimulate students' curiosity to tackle with the mathematical tasks. The guessing technique allows *all* the students in class to *join* the lesson. *Open-closed* tasks have the dual purpose of both *invigorating* and *control* the didactic process. Some qualitative predicates, like "participation", "activity" and "invigorate", regarding the didactic process had to be introduced to cover the motivational issues. Further investigation on how such qualifications properly should be handled is needed. Still, I think that the epistemological components of ATD, fits well as an extension of the *logos* block supplied by the DO proposed by Souma.

References

- Barbé, J., Bosch, M., Espinoza, L. & Gascón, J. (2005). Didactic restrictions on teachers' practice -the case of limits of functions at Spanish high schools. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 59(1-3), 235-268.
- Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2006). Twenty-five years of the didactic transposition. *ICMI Bulletin*, No. 58, 51-63.
- Bosch, M., Gascón & J. Rodríguez, E. (2007). An anthropological approach to metacognition: The "Study and research courses". *In Proceedings of CERME 5*, 1798-1807.
- Chevallard, Y. (2006). Steps towards a new epistemology in mathematics education. In Bosch, M. (ed.), *Proceedings of the 4th Conference of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education*, Barcelona: FUNDEMI IQS. (pp. 21-30).
- Dagens Nyheter. (2009, 1002). http://www.dn.se/ledare/huvudledare/tala-om-matematik-1.965901 (accessed 2010-09-13). "Tala om matematik" (Ledare).
- Dewey, J. (1910). How we think. Boston: Heath.
- Garcia, F., Gascón, J., Higueras, L., Bosch, M. (2006). Mathematical modelling as a tool for the connection of school mathematics. *ZDM*, 38(3), 226-246.
- Hiebert, J., Stigler, J. & Manaster, A. (1999). Mathematical features of lessons in the TIMSS Video Study. *ZDM*, 6, 196-201.
- Hino, K. (2007). Toward the problem-centred classroom: Trends in mathematical problem solving in Japan. ZDM, The International Journal of Mathematics Education, 39, 503-514.
- Kunimune, S. & Koseki, K. (1999). "Yoi jugyo" no souzou to tenkai (To Create and developing "Good lessons"). Tokyo: Meijitosho.
- Miyakawa, T., & Winsløw, C. (2009). Didactical designs for students' proportional reasoning: An "open approach" lesson and a "fundamental situation". *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 72(2), 199-218.
- Mnistry of education, culture, sports, science and technology (2008). *Chugakko gakushu shido yoryo kaisetsu, sugaku-hen* (Commentary to the curriculum standards for lower secondary school, mathematics). Tokyo: Kyoiku Shuppan.
- Nohda, N. (1991). Paradigm of the "open-approach" method in mathematics teaching: Focus on mathematics problem solving. ZDM, 23(2), 32-37.
- Polya, G. (Second edition, 1957). *How to solve it*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton university press.
- Souma, K. (1987). Chuugakkouni okeru "Sougou sugaku" e no ayumi (Trying synthetic mathematics in lower secondary school). *Journal of Japan Society of Mathematical Education*, 69(11), 302-309.
- Souma, K. (1995) Yosou wo toriireta Suugaku jugyou no kaizen (Improvement of the lessons of mathematics with guessing). Tokyo: Meijitosho.
- Souma, K. (1997) *Sugakuka Mondaikaiketu no jugyou* (The problem solving oriented approach -The subject of mathematics). Tokyo: Meijitosho.
- Stigler, J. & Hibert, J. (1999). *The Teaching Gap.* New york: The Free Press.
- Tsubota, K. (ed.), (2007) Sugakuno Katsuyouryoku wo Sodateru Jugyo. (Lessons fostering practical mathematical knowledge) Tokyo: Kobun Shoin.

Mathematical modelling in the Swedish national course tests in mathematics

Peter Frejd

Department of Mathematics, Linköping University

Abstract. One competence assessed in the Swedish national course tests in mathematics (NCT) is mathematical modelling. This paper presents, with empirical data from the NCT, constraints and conditions for developing mathematical modelling in tests viewed from the Anthropological theory of didactics (ATD). The institutional restrictions are numerous and a reformulation of the test problems is suggested.

Introduction

Many researchers in the field of mathematical modelling and applications are interested in introducing mathematical modelling activities into mathematics education, supported by curriculums that emphasize the focus on "real world problems" in mathematics teaching (Barquero, Bosch & Gascón, in press). Barquero et al. also state that several research studies focusing on implementing modelling activities in schools under suitable conditions have shown success, but "the problem of the large-scale dissemination of these processes has recently been addressed as both an urgent and intricate task" (p. 1). These statements could also illustrate the present situation in Sweden, where on the one hand the official curriculum guidelines for upper secondary school stress the role of mathematical modelling in teaching and learning mathematics, and this has been made more and more explicit since 1965 (Ärlebäck, 2009). On the other hand, in the study by Freid and Arlebäck (2009) only 23% of upper secondary students (n=381) stated that they had heard about or used mathematical models or modelling in their education before. A possible way to make modelling into a more standard activity in school is, according to Niss' (1993) premise: "What is not assessed in education becomes invisible or unimportant" (p. 27), to use more modelling activity in assessment tasks. One of the six competences that are being assessed in the national course tests (NCT) in mathematics is mathematical modelling.

The aim of this paper is, in the light of the Anthropological theory of didactics (ATD), to describe and analyse constrains and conditions that would allow development for mathematical modelling to be assessed in the Swedish course tests in mathematics (C and D-course) [1].

There has been a growing international interest in the Anthropological theory of didactics (ATD) and its founder Yves Chevallard has recently received the 2009 Hans Freudenthal Award. The theoretical perspective of ATD is broad and some of its key notions will be explained in the next section. For other details concerning ATD see for instance Chevallard (1999) and Bosch and Gascón (2006).

Modelling and mathematical knowledge in ATD

The notion of mathematical modelling is not unambiguously defined and is depending on the theoretical perspective adopted (Freid, 2010). Garcia, Gascón, Higueras and Bosch (2006) use ATD in order to formulate a meaning of mathematical modelling. They claim that mathematical modelling is *not* another dimension or another aspect of mathematics, instead they propose "that mathematical activity is essentially modelling activity in itself" (p. 232). However, this view of modelling is only meaningful if one defines mathematical activity and if modelling is considered to include both extra mathematical modelling ("real-world problems") and intra mathematical modelling ("problems related to pure mathematics", such as different representations of algebraic notions). The effect on the statement above will be that the problem situation is not the most important aspect, but the problem itself (a generative question) will be the keypoint in order to develop and create new, wider and more complex problems (ibid.). A generative question is "a question with enough generative power', in the sense that the work done on it by the group is bound to engender a rich succession of problems that they will have to solve- at least partially- in order to reach a valuable answer to the question studied" (Chevallard, 2007, pp. 7-8). These generative questions also named crucial questions or productive questions (Garcia et al., 2006) should also be of real interest to the students (Rodriguez, Bosch & Gascón, 2008). A prerequisite to create and tackle these new and wider problems is analysis of mathematical knowledge in terms of mathematical praxeology.

The notion of praxeology is one of the most central notions in ATD (Garcia et al., 2006). A knowledge or a body of knowledge is defined as "a praxeology (or a complex of praxeologies) which has gained epistemic recognition from some culturally dominant institutions, so that mastering that praxeology is equated with mastering a "true" body of knowledge" (Chevallard, 2007, p. 6). The praxeologies are described by the two main components *praxis* or "know-how" and *logos* or thinking and reasoning about the praxis. These two main components can be divided into four sub-components, see Figure 1 below.

Praxis	Tasks within a specific activity
(know-how)	Techniques to accomplish the tasks
Logos	Technology that justifies the techniques
(know why)	Theory that justifies the technology

Figure 1. The four sub-components of praxeologies

The praxis part refers to the types of tasks and techniques that are available to solve the tasks and the logos part refers to technology that describes and explains the techniques and the theory that explains the technology. In addition, the praxeologies of mathematics can be analyzed as global, regional, local and point praxeologies (Bosch & Gascón, 2006). A point praxeology is characterized by a specific type of problem and an appurtenant specific technique in a technology, a *local* praxeology is characterized by a set of point praxeologies that are integrated within the same technology, a *regional* praxeology is characterized by connected local praxeologies within a mathematical theory and a *global* praxeology is characterized by linked regional praxeologies (see e.g. Rodriguez, Bosch & Gascón, 2008). I will illustrate global, regional, local and point praxeologies by examples inspired from Artigue and Winsløw (2010). A point praxeology is for instance the specific technique to solve "x-3=0" by moving the -3 to the other side of the equal sign and change minus to plus. A Local praxeology may be seen as the discourse relating to solve polynomial equations and a *regional* praxeology may be an algebraic theory for solving equations. Finally *global* praxeology may be a unified theory of equation solving including nu numerical theory, algebraic theory etc.

The process of refining or constructing mathematical praxeologies is a complex activity called the process of study (see e.g. Rodriguez, Bosch & Gascón, 2008). The process of study is classified into six didactic moments (non chronological): (1) first encounter, (2) exploration, (3) constructing environment for technology and theory, (4) working on the technique, (5) institutionalization and (6) evaluation (ibid.). I will describe the process of study with the modelling example used by Ruiz, Bosch and Gascón (2007) about selling and buying T-shirts. The students in the investigation were given a chart with the number of sold t-shirts, the total costs, the total incomes and benefits for three months (May, June and July) and a corresponding question about the possibility to earn 3000 euro in August by selling a reasonable number of T-shirts (first encounter). Based on the given conditions the students started to create a model and did some calculations and estimations in order to develop a technique (exploration) and then continued to improve this technique to set up other models (working on the technique). For instance, the students had to find connections between numerical and functional language as well as investigate about the roles of parameters and variables (constructing environment for technology and theory) in order to discuss the question. Finally an identification of praxeologies regarding institutional demand is done (institutionalization) and students reflect over the value of those praxeologies (*evaluation*) (Rodriguez, Bosch & Gascón, 2008).

To specify the aim and get an initial indication on the current situation of modelling activities in the national course tests, I will investigate the following question based on the theoretical discussions in the section above: *What generative questions are presented in the Swedish national course tests in mathematics (C and D- course)?*

Methodology

The national course tests (NCT) in mathematics in Sweden are designed to be an instrument for assessing competencies (including mathematical modelling) according to the curriculum guidelines and to stimulate teachers and students to discuss about goals and content in the curriculum (Palm et al., 2004). The NCT are institutional inventions because they are based on curriculum guidelines (institution), developed by a department of educational measurement (at Umeå University; institution) and used in schools (institution). The reason to choose ATD to describe and analyse constraints and conditions of modelling in NCT (institution) is, in line with the

second handbook of research (Silver & Herbst, 2007) that ATD attempts to explain and describe institutions.

In order to describe and analyse the present situation of modelling tasks in the NCT, I have, in line with Bosch and Gascón (2006), developed an epistemological reference model to be able to adopt an external viewpoint. The reference model concerns modelling as well as types of praxeologies (point, local, regional, global). I have adopted the definition of modelling activity used by Barquero, Bosch and Gascón (2006), who claim that "the modelling activity is a process of reconstruction and articulation of mathematical praxeologies which become progressively broader and more complex. That process starts from the consideration of a (mathematical of extra-mathematical) problematic question that constitutes the rationale of the mathematical models that are being constructed and integrated" (p. 2051). In my view this definition focuses on (possible) generating questions $[Q_0]$ and the corresponding generated subquestions $[Q_1, \dots, Q_n]$. These generating questions may be identified (thus it is operational) by studying and analysing tasks and problems, written solutions (answers $[R_1, ..., R_n]$) and assessment guidelines (identify praxeologies that are assessed as rewarded to use). The reference model that I will use, based on the discussions above, will be that a generating question will be defined as: a question (a problem or a task) $[Q_0]$ that generates at least one corresponding subquestion $[O_1]$ which is needed to ask in order to solve the initial question. An example of a generating question (discussed before) used by Ruiz, Bosch and Gascón (2007) is "In the given initial conditions, is it possible to obtain a benefit of 3000 € in August by selling a reasonable number of T-shirts?" (p. 6). To evaluate possible types of praxeologies (point, local, regional, global) I will use the following definitions: a *point* praxeology is used when only one isolated technique is involved, i.e. a routine operation according to the assessment guidelines (such as solving an polynomial equation of second order by using a formula, using an instrumented technique to evaluate a maximum value, differentiate an exponential function by using some stated rules etc.); a *local* praxeology involves at least two point praxeologies which are justified under a technology, i.e. when the assessment guidelines emphasize more than one technique to get to a solution; a *regional* praxeology connects at least two local praxeologies under a theory, i.e. that the assessment guidelines stress different technologies are needed to solve the question; a global praxeology is linking together at least two regional praxeologies ,i.e. more than one theory is needed according to the assessment guidelines.

I have used the reference model to get an initial indication on the current situation of possible generative questions in NCT, by analysing (see next section) the last four freely available [2] NCT (C (2009), C (2005), D (2005) and D (2002) [3]). The available NCT are supposed to give the students (as well as teachers and researchers) a representative picture of the general design about the test as well as give information about the mathematical content being asked about. The tests are divided in two parts, one part with and one part without the possibility for the student to use a calculator. Another condition is that the expected answers according to the NCT authors are categorized. The three types of categories are short answers (one sentence of explanation or a numerical calculation), long answers (extended explanations about the solution) and essay answers (performance assessment, where the students are supposed to write some paragraphs in order to explain a situation which includes to describe and use some method, draw conclusions based on mathematical reasoning and to do a distinct and clear presentation of the problem with mathematical language). The time limitation for the C and D-course tests is 4 hours and it is recommended in the instructions to work at most 90 minutes (C, 2009) or at most 60 minutes (C 2005, D 2005, D 2002) on the first part without the calculator, and that the performance assessment may take an hour to execute. To every NCT there are also teacher guidelines for assessment with examples of students' answers that are supposed to help the teachers to assess the test as uniformly as possible across the country. I have used these guidelines and the reference model in the analysis in the next section.

The analysis and the results

The main result in this study is that there exist no generative questions with respect to the reference model in the investigated national course tests. This main result will be illustrated below along with excerpts from the teacher guidelines in order to explain how the analysis has progressed.

The solutions to the first part of the test (no calculator allowed), are characterized by mostly *short answers* and only a few *long answers* (two applied minimum and maximum problems). Below in Figure 2 are two examples from the first part.

Calculate the integral $\int_0^3 (x^2 + 4x) dx$ (D, 2002)	Is lg9 larger or less than 1? Please motivate your answer. (C, 2005)
Short answer, point praxeology, no generating question	Short answer, point/local praxeology, no generating question

Figure 2. Translated tasks from the first part of the NCT D (2002) and C (2005) (my translation).

The task to the left is supposed to be a routine question in the Dcourse and according to the guidelines it emphasizes the algorithm (technique) of finding the antiderivatives (i.e. a technique to use the fundamental theorem of calculus, without the necessity to refer to the theorem). This type of question at this level (D-course) is testing a technique and is not a generative question and could be seen to test a single point praxeology. The task to the right is no generating question either, there are no obvious sub-questions needed. However, the technique to solve the task is not totally clear from the outset. The three students' solutions (C 2005) in Figure 3 below may illustrate the situation.

Student A uses a technique based on two special cases to and the same technique is used by student B, but in addition student B declares in words that the logarithmic function is increasing for the chosen interval. Student C uses a technique based on the definition of the logarithmic function. In the assessment guidelines to the teacher student C receives most credits, because he/she uses the definition of logarithmic function to prove the statement. The solutions above may be seen as *local* praxeologyrather than point praxeology within the technology of increasing/decreasing function.

Student A	1910-1 0<199 < 1	
Student B	Madre an 1 extraom der logaritmiska kunan är værende mellen 131 och 1310 och 1310 - 1 och	Less then 1 because the logarithmic curve is increasing between lg1 and lg10 and lg10=1 and lg1=0
Student C	199 betyder 10 upphöjt i vada ör 9 Alltsa : 10x = 9 Vi vet att : 10* = 10 Dårtör børde 199 eller x væræ mindre än 1	lg9 meaning 10 raised to what power is 9. Thus: 10^{3} =9, we know that 10^{1} =10, Therefore 1g9 or x should be less then 1

Figure 3. Student solutions from the NCT C (2005).

Many of the tasks from the first part add to the dominant view of algebra as *generalised arithmetic*, which is one of many obstacles for implementing mathematical modelling activities, where algebra may be seen as a modelling tool (Ruiz, Bosch & Gascón, 2007, Bolea, Bosch & Gascón, 2004). An example of algebra as *generalised arithmetic* is for instance a problem in the C-course (2009), where the student is given a formula for the (least) total number of "handshakes" that are needed in a group for everyone to shake every others hand. The student is supposed to use this formula (in a general way, no numbers are given) to write an expression (as short as possible) for the difference (i.e. test arithmetic) of "handshakes" between two different groups, with the condition that there are twice as much people in one of the groups.

For the second part of the tests the students are allowed to use calculators (both graphical calculators and CAS-calculators are allowed). The focus is moved from *short answers* to more or less *long answers*, and the last problem in each test will fall under the category *essay answer*. To provide a picture of the second part of the test some examples will be discussed and analysed in Figure 4 on the next page.

Find <i>the number</i> of solutions to the equation $\sin 2x=x^2/10-1$, x is measured in radians. (D 2005)	A thermos fills up with hot coffee and is placed outdoors where the temperature is about zero degrees. The temperature of the coffee decreases exponentially over a time period. After 4 hours the temperature is 76 degree Celsius and at that point of time the temperature decreases with a rate of 4.1 degrees per hour. What was the temperature of the coffee when it was poured into the thermos? (C 2005)
Short answer, point/local praxeology, no generating question	Long answer, local praxeology, no generating question

Figure 4. Translated tasks from the second part of the NCT D (2005) and C (2005) (my translation).

The task to the left is no generating question (the assessment guidelines do not stress the use of any sub-questions) and is supposed to test an instrumented technique (or drawing a graph by hand). To solve this equation one may say that a single point praxeology is needed according to the reference model. However, there are several different possible instrumental techniques (solve, graph, trace) to solve the equation and a solution may be seen as a connection of single point praxeologies (solve, graph, trace) under the technology of instrumented equation solver; if so than the solution will refer to a local praxeology. The task to the right demands a longer answer, including setting up and solving an equation system with exponential functions, based on the two conditions in the text, but still the restrictions are still too many with the respect to the ideal of a generative question. However, in a less restricted situation this question could be turned into a generative question (see section conclusion and implications). The different connected point praxeologies within the technology of linear first order differential equations make it a local praxeology.

Finally, the *essay answer* will be illustrated by the following situation; a patient gets equal intravenous doses of medicine (10 mg) at repeated occasions (C-course, 2009). The student is given a model $(y=10e^{-8t})$ which is supposed to describe the amount of medicine in the blood y (mg) after a certain time t (hours). Two questions are then given: How much medicine is there in the blood after 5 hours after the first dose? After 8 hours the patient gets a second injection of medicine, how much medicine does the patient have in the blood immediately after the second injection? A graph is given after the two questions in order to visualize a simple model of the total amount of medicine M (mg) the patient has in the blood after five injections (see Figure 5).



Figure 5. A graph from the NCT C (2009) describing the amount of medicine in the blood after five injections.

Two more questions are given; first, write an expression and calculate the amount of medicine the patient has in the blood after five injections; and second, suppose the patient gets more injections by the same model, try to find the limit for the total amount of medicine in the blood (it is explicitly given that there is an upper limit).

In this essay answer question, one may see that the author of the test is "guiding" the student with sub questions towards a solution. The last question, according to my point of view, is not a generative question but it has some similarities. I will explain by analysing some answers, parts of the answers are displayed in Figure 6 below.





Figure 6. Four students' answers from the essay answer question, C (2009).

Student D uses a technique of proportions by measuring in the given model and concludes that the total amount of medicine after 5 injections is 15.94 mg. An iterative technique is used by Student E, who concludes that after 9 iterations (injections) the total amount of medicine is about 15.8 mg. Students F and G get the same result (15.82 mg) and use a technique which is justified by geometric sums (technology), where student F sketches a graph (an assumption could be that the student uses his/hers calculator) to find the limit and student G evaluates the limit at infinity by the theorem of limits for exponential functions (even though the students do not write $n \rightarrow \infty$ and that the parenthesis moves closer to -1 instead of $(e^{-1})^n$ moves closer to zero or $(e^{-1})^n$ -1 moves closer to -1). This may be a *regional* praxeology according to the reference model connecting the technologies of exponential functions and geometric series within the theory of limits. One may also say there are some similarities to a generative question, depending on what sub-questions the students give themselves (if they do), and these sub-questions may generate a specific technique (proportion, iterative process, limit definitions, etc) and a corresponding answer. In other words, this pattern of questions and answers $(Q_1, R_1), \dots, (Q_n, R_n)$ is similar (or close to similar) to the pattern generated by a generative question used in so called *research* study courses RSC, see for instance Barquero, Bosch and Gascón (in press), Ruiz, Bosch and Gascón (2007) or Garcia et al. (2006) for more details and explanations. The next section will sum up the analysis and discuss the result of the current state of modelling activities in national course tests in Sweden.

Discussion

The ATD has been a useful tool to use in order to show that the institutional restrictions are numerous (time limit and other institutional constrains). A problem I found with using the ATD for analysing NCT is that it was hard to identify types of praxeologies based only on problems and solutions: the point, local, regional or regional praxeologies depend much of the students' background which is not seen in a solution. The only opportunity (condition) I see to implement a generative question is in the *essay answer* question, which means that the students will have approximately one hour to perform a modelling activity by themselves. The restrictions are several. For instance, it is not possible during the NCT test situation to work in a group and modelling activities often take place in a group where the members of the group help each other to raise the sub-questions. The group members in a modelling activity usually

have access to computers and other powerful tools as well as the access to *go out* to validate an extra modelling situation, which is not acceptable while taking the NCT. The institutional history of test making of the NCT is also a strong restriction, as the authors of the tests are used to create the NCT the same way, with the same interpretation of the curriculum. The curriculum aspects of modelling are not interpreted as a generative question by Palm et al. (2004), instead modelling is viewed as a cyclic process starting with a real-life problem (for details see Palm et al., 2004). However, according to Garcia et al. (2006) this view does not contradict a view on modelling from an ATD perspective. Nevertheless, I found no example to compare the different views and I have some problems to see that they do not contradict, especially the intra modelling, and I argue for more research comparing the different views.

One way to introduce modelling activity in the test could be to reformulate the essay answer question previously discussed with realistic data and take away the present sub-questions, the mathematical model and not explicitly explain that there is an upper limit. Instead, students could try to find the model themselves by some given data in a table like in Ruiz et al. (2007). The students could then use for instance regression in order to set up a model that later can be examined like the present question.

However, in my point of view the main restriction for implementing modelling activity in the NCT is the demand of constant learning/ constant testing (time factor) and the fact that modelling activities is a long-term objective (Bolea et al., 2004). I propose, therefore, for the use of the problems in the NCT to be an inspiration in order to reformulate them into modelling activities (generating questions) that can take place under less restricted conditions, within ATD called a research study course (RSC). I will give two examples, first the problem with the cooling coffee and the thermos. A generating question Q_0 could be: "Given the temperature of the coffee at some points of time, can we predict the temperature after different lengths in time? Is it possible to predict the long term behaviour of the temperature? What sort of assumptions on the thermos, initial temperature, the surroundings etc. should be made? How can one create forecasts and test them?" These questions are similar to the one used on population growth by Barquero et al. (2007). The second example deals with medicine, as in the essay answer question. The first encounter for the students could be to read on the back side of a box with headache pills (which may be familiar to the students). One may read on the box that "grownups and children above 12 years: 1

pill up to 1-3 times per day, the maximum dose of 3 pills should not be exceeded and the pills are only for short term use maximum 5 days. 1 pill includes 400 mg Ibuprofen." A generating question Q_0 may be "how can one make a prediction when it is time to take a new pill? What happens with the amount of medicine in the body while using the medicine over a longer time? To what extent is it possible to test our hypothesis (models)?" This could be one way to introduce or work with mathematical praxeologies involving exponential functions, geometric series, the limits of infinity, but it could also start other discussions about other aspects in life and in society, such as knowledge about addictive substances like drugs, alcohol and tobacco and what effect they have on the body.

Conclusion

The analysis of tasks and problems in the NCT reveals that the focus is on assessing different techniques. The solutions to the long and the short answer questions require point or local praxeologies. Even though the modelling competence is supposed to be assessed, no generating questions are found with respect to the reference model. However, the essay answer questions with reduced restriction have a potential to be transformed into something close to a generating question. To transform the essay answer question into a generative question, the essay question could well be discussed in terms of the process of study with the six didactic moments: (1) first encounter (the essay question), (2) exploration (what technique should I use), (3) constructing environment for technology and theory (discuss why use this technique), (4) working on the technique (use the chosen technique), (5) institutionalization (what praxeologies have the students used and are they in line with the curriculum?), and (6) evaluation (what is the outcome of the used praxeologies, is the chosen technique optimal?). This could be tested in a future research study with an aim to provide more information about generative questions and their potential use also in national course tests.

End notes

1. Example of content in: Mathematics A-arithmetic, algebra, statistics; Mathematics B-probability theory, geometry, equations of second order; Mathematics C-differential calculus; Mathematics D-Trigonometry, integral calculus; Mathematics E-complex numbers, more advanced differential and integral calculus, differential equations.

- 2. Open meaning there is no secrecy on the test and it is free to download from the internet.
- 3. The NCT from the C course (2005, 2009) and the D course (2002, 2005) are retrieved from: http://www8.umu.se/edmeas/np/information/np-tidigare-prov.html

References

- Artigue, M., & Winsløw, C. (2010). International comparative studies on mathematics education: A view point from the anthropological theory of didactics. *Recherches en Didactique des Mathématiques*, 30(1), 47-82.
- Barquero, B., Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2007). Using research and study courses for teaching mathematical modelling at university level. In D. Pitta-Pantazi & G. Philppou (Eds.), *European* research in mathematics education V, Proceedings of CERME5 (pp. 2050-2059). University of Cyprus.
- Barquero, M., Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (in press). The "ecology" of mathematical modelling: restrictions to its teaching at university level. To appear in *Proceedings of the VIth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education*.
- Bolea, P., Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2004). Why is modelling not included in the teaching of algebra at secondary school? *Quaderni di Ricerca in Didattica*, 14; 125-133.
- Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2006). Twenty-five years of the didactic transposition, *ICMI Bulletin*, 58, 51-63.
- Chevallard, Y. (1999). L'analyse des pratiques enseignantes en théorie anthropogique du didactique. *Recherches en Didactique des Mathématiques*, 19(2), 221-265.
- Chevallard, Y. (2007). Readjusting didactics to a changing epistemology. *European Educational Research Journal*, 6(2), 131-134.
- Frejd, P. (2010). Revisiting perspectives on mathematical models and modeling, In C. Bergsten, E Jablonka, & T. Wedege (Eds.), Mathematics and mathematics education: Cultural and social dimensions: Proceedings of Madif 7: The 7th Swedish Mathematics Education Research Seminar, Stockholm, 26-27, January, 2010 (pp. 80-90). Linköping: SMDF.

- Frejd, P., & Ärlebäck, J. B. (2009). First results from a study investigating Swedish upper secondary students' mathematical modelling competencies. In Proceedings of ICTMA 14, *The* 14th International Community of Teachers of Modelling and Applications, Hamburg, July 27-31, 2009.
- Garcia, F. Gascón, J. Higueras, L., & Bosch, M. (2006). Mathematical modelling as a tool for the connection of school mathematics. *ZDM 38* (3), 226-246.
- Niss, M. (1993). Assessment in mathematics education and its effects: An introduction. In M. Niss. (Ed.), *Investigations into assessment in mathematics education: An ICMI Study* (pp. 1-30). Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Palm, T., Bergqvist, E., Eriksson, I., Hellström, T., & Häggström, C. (2004). En tolkning av målen med den svenska gymnasiematematiken och tolkningens konsekvenser för uppgiftskonstruktion (Report No. 199). Umeå: Enheten för pedagogiska mätningar, Umeå universitet.
- Rodríguez, E., Bosch, M. & Gascón, J. (2008). A networking method to compare theories: metacognition in problem solving reformulated within the Anthropological Theory of the Didactical. ZDM 40 (2), 287–301.
- Ruiz, N. Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2007). The functional modelling at secondary level. In D. Pitta-Pantazi, & G. Pilippou (Eds.), *Proceedings of the fifth congress of the European society for research in mathematics education* (pp. 2170–2179) Cyprus: University of Cyprus.
- Silver, E., & Herbst, P. (2007). Theory in mathematics education scholarship. In F. K. Lester (Ed.), Second handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning Mathematics (pp. 39-67). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Ärlebäck, J. B. (2009). Mathematical modelling in the Swedish curriculum documents governing the upper secondary mathematics education between the years 1965-2000. [In Swedish] (Report No. 2009:8, LiTH-MAT-R-2009). Linköping: Linköpings universitet, Matematiska institutitionen.

78 Peter Frejd

Institutional practices in the case of the number *e* at upper secondary school in Sweden

Semir Becevic

Universities of Halmstad and Linköping

The aim of this study is to follow institutional introductions of the number e with the framework of The Anthropological Theory of Didactics. To simplify the process of analysing these introductions two mathematical organizations are constructed. The first organization focuses on the introduction and the other one on the value of the number e. This article shows some hinders for students learning and familiarization with the number e within and between the observed institutions.

Introduction

Mathematical studies at upper secondary school level in Sweden have usually been influenced by some very important, irrational numbers. The number π , for example, students bring with themselves from the previous educational phase to gymnasium. Although they have continually dealt with the number in many different situations at comprehensive school, my teaching experience unfortunately documents the lack of student understanding of the nature of the number π and its uses in mathematics education Students have initial difficulties to explain our mathematical needs for such numbers in school education. The absence of the set of theory which could facilitate and improve student understanding of numbers at both levels of education has lead to inadequate perceptions. Students' interest in how the number π has come to be defined and what kind of number π is appears to be very vague. Their encounters with the number π are entirely connected to geometry and some of the trigonometrical functions. On the one hand, to deal with this type of task students have just been taught to use this number π in some appropriate ways which probably lead to the right answers without any demands on understanding what lies behind these uses. On the other hand, the current-day introduction of the number π does not appear to cause the students any calculating and operating difficulties. But in general, proving the irrational nature of the number π can cause problems for the students.

To go a bit further and mathematically account for the number e and its irrational nature requires a carefully prepared introduction strategy which could help students in their understandings of this number without loosing sight of its mathematical nature. Students' better understanding of the number e should improve not just their mathematical implementation of the number but even some mathematical definitions, processes and algorithms in connection to those. Definition of the natural logarithms, differentiations of common and composed exponential functions and some appliances in the field of the complex numbers are just few of those worth mentioning initially.

To investigate present-day introductions, appliances and applications of the number e into the upper secondary school, this study uses the frameworks of the anthropological theory of didactic with the process of the didactic transposition created by Yves Chevallard. Some crucial elements of this theory are briefly described in the following.

Theory

The anthropological theory of didactic (ATD) and the theory of didactic transposition by Yves Chevallard (Barbé, Bosch, Espinoza, & Gascón, 2005, p 236) are initially rooted in the theory of didactic situations from Guy Brousseau (1997). A set of knowledge (usually called a *body of knowledge*) created somewhere outside of school is



Figure 1. Reference mathematical knowledge

transferred to the school both with and without any social, cultural or educational reasons (Bosch & Gascón, 2006). The didactic transposition process is constituted by the four following steps: scholarly knowledge, knowledge to be thought, taught knowledge and learned knowledge. The scholarly knowledge is the kind of knowledge often produced at higher educational level, by mathematicians without any deeper considerations regarding appliances at lower educational school level. The mathematical needs of mathematicians can be quite different from the needs that characterise mathematical education at the upper secondary level. To address these latter types of needs the scholarly knowledge must be transformed into what is called knowledge to be taught. Here, even society enters into the picture with its own needs and reasons in producing and creating that knowledge, of course with a cultural and national signature, which is supposed to be of crucial interest in the future. Among others, syllabi, curriculum, textbooks and other educational materials for different purposes are located here. The next step in the didactic transposition process is *taught knowledge*. Teachers together with their students are always trying to find some more appropriate ways of teaching which lead to improved student understanding and acquirement. The focus is on what actually is done in classrooms and in which ways. The students learning are usually most influenced of this type of knowledge, which is presented in the classrooms by the teachers in some kind of interaction with the students. Both consciously and unconsciously, teachers and students shape and create the educational material that is important to know according to various social and educational reasons. As the last part in this process *learned knowledge* appears as knowledge that is actually acquired by the students, which can be available for appropriate situations.

These steps from the didactic transposition process provide the possibility of creating a new reference model which is called "*reference epistemological model*" and can be produced by data from the aforementioned three institutions: the mathematical community, the educational system and the classroom. To study mathematical problems without this point of view can cause many problems related to the institutions in which they are shaped, taught or learned.

This is precisely what the proposal for these paper is, namely to investigate both different aspects and approaches to the introduction of the number e regarding these institutions and eventual constraints for the learning which can be caused in the field within and between these institutions. It is important to mention that the classroom institution is excluded in the present project.

According to the ATD (Hardy, 2009) any mathematical knowledge can be described and investigated in terms of a *mathematical*

organization or a praxeological organization, sometimes called mathematical praxeology. "A didactic praxeology is used when a person of group of persons want to have an appropriate MO available (the mathematician's or student's didactic praxeology) or to help others to do it (the teacher's didactic praxeology)" (Barbé, Bosch, Espinoza, & Gascón, 2005, p. 239).

The mathematical praxeology consists of four main parts divided into two blocks. The first block is denoted as a practical one and includes type of task and a technique needs to solve it. This block is often connected to the phrase know-how. The other block, which justify the practical block is named as theoretical block and is constituted of *technology* and theory. The technology is meant as a type of discourse or logos about the technique while the theory is a broader and deeper notion, which



Figure 2. Praxeology

justifies some different technologies (Barbé et al., 2005).

With the introduction of the number e as a task in the institutional educational practice it should be important to investigate what kind of mathematical organizations are considered within the mathematician community and educational system and the relationships between them which are also a complementary proposal of this paper.

The aim of this project is consequently to investigate both different approaches to the introduction of the number e regarding the mathematical community and the educational system and also eventual constrains for the learning, which can be caused with these introductions in the field within and between these institutions.

Analysis and Results

Domar et al (1969, p 127) begin with a look at the graphs of the functions



Through ascertaining that the functions are derivable, according the graphs above, the authors give derivatives of these functions for x = 0, that is $f'(0) \approx 0.7$ and g'(0) = 1.1. The question if there is any value x = a so that f'(a) = 1 emerges. This leads to that:

$$\lim_{h\to 0}\frac{a^h-1}{h}=1.$$

The absence of some appropriate method that could prove the expression above quite easily heads the authors to assume the existence of such a number. They denote it as usually with the number e, that is:

$$\lim_{h\to 0}\frac{e^h-1}{h}=1.$$

To get round this problem the authors propose another approach through the definition of the function:

$$\ln x = \int_{1}^{x} \frac{1}{t} dt \quad for \quad t \succ 0,$$

that is an area between the curve $y = \frac{1}{t}$, the x axis and the lines t = 1 and t = x, for $x \ge 1$. If $0 \prec x \prec 1$ then the area is taken as negative.

To prove that this function is continuous for all positive x numbers and strong increasing becomes less difficult compared with the former approach. This means that there is a value for x so that: $\ln x = 1$ which is known as the number *e*, that is:

$$\ln e = 1$$

Hyltén-Cavallius and Sandgren (1968), in another approach to the number e, choose initially to keep away from precisely defining of this number. They begin instead with the definition of the natural logarithm $\ln x$ through the claim of the number e's existence and it's approximately value 2,718. The function $f(x) = e^x$ becomes subsequently defined as the inverse function to the function $f(x) = \ln x$. Finally, the authors prove the theorem:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left(1 + \frac{x}{t} \right)^t = e^x \text{ which for } x = 1 \text{ leads to:}$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left(1 + \frac{1}{t} \right)^t = e$$

and creates the possibility to define the number e via the series of the

numbers:
$$\left(1+\frac{1}{n}\right)^n$$
, $n = 1, 2, 3, ...$

Forsling and Neymark (2004, p 80) begin like Domar et al (1969) with the definition of the function $\ln x$:



as the area below the graph of the function $u(t) = \frac{1}{t}$ which shifts from the positive to the negative one depending on where the variable

x is located, to the right or to the left of the number 1 respectively:

$$\ln x = \begin{cases} A_x & \text{for } x \ge 1 \\ -A_x & \text{for } 0 \prec x \prec 1 \end{cases}$$

That is:

$$\ln x = \int_{1}^{x} \frac{dt}{t} \quad for \quad x \succ 0$$

there the area is connected to the integral above.

The exponential function $y = e^x$ is then defined as the inverse function to the function $x = \ln y$ under some appropriate circumstances, which qualify the existence of this inverse.

The number e becomes thereafter confirm for a special value of x, that is x=1 and $e^1=e$. The way to enquire the exactly value of the number e goes via Maclaurin series:

$$f(x) = f(0) + f'(0) \cdot x + \frac{f''(0)}{2} \cdot x^2 + \frac{f'''(0)}{3!} \cdot x^3 + \dots + \frac{f^{(n)}(0)}{n!} \cdot x^n + r(x) \quad there \quad r(x) = O(x^{n+1})$$

and Langrange's theorem:

$$r(x) = \frac{f^{n+1}(\xi)}{(n+1)!} \cdot x^{n+1} \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \prec \xi \prec x$$

All this leads further that:

$$e^{x} = 1 + x + \frac{x^{2}}{2} + \frac{x^{3}}{3!} + \dots + \frac{x^{n}}{n!} + r(x) \quad and \quad r(x) = \frac{e^{\xi}}{(n+1)!} \cdot x^{n+1}$$

For x = 1:

$$e = 1 + 1 + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3!} + \dots + \frac{1}{n!} + r$$
 and $r = \frac{e^{\xi}}{(n+1)!}$

An easy approximation:

$$0 \prec r = \frac{e^{\xi}}{(n+1)} \le \frac{e^1}{(n+1)} \prec \frac{3}{(n+1)!}$$

and

n = 9

gives:

$$e \approx 2,7182815...$$
 and $0 \prec r \prec \frac{3}{10!} \prec \frac{1}{10^6} = 10^{-6}$

So that we get:

$$e \approx 2,71828$$

Some of the textbooks that teachers usually wok with at the upper secondary school in Sweden try to solve this problem of the number e more and less similarly. The textbooks don't hesitate to assault this introductory problem without going deeper in mathematical reasoning about the continuity of the exponential functions in a given interval or about the existence of the number e, for example. The existence of

the number e is just shown, by the ratio $\frac{y}{y}$ there the function y varies

between a particular $y = 2^x$ and a general case $y = a^x$ (Björk & Brolin, 2000; Eriksson, Sjunnesson, Jonsson, & Gavel, 2008; Gennow, Gustafsson, & Silborn, 2004; Szabo, Larson, Viklund, & Marklund, 2008). The presentations shift as well between a graphical one to some algebraic. With almost nonexistent differences between

all these approaches end up with the expression: $\frac{y'}{y} = k$ and the question if there is such a number a that $\frac{y'}{y} = 1$ and the discovery of the number begin with the differentiation of the general function $y = f(x) = a^x$:

$$y' = f'(x) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{f(x+h) - f(x)}{h} = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{a^{x+h} - a^x}{h} = a^x \cdot \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{a^h - 1}{h}$$

which resembles Domar et al (1969). The question if there is such a number *a* that $\lim_{h\to 0} \frac{a^h - 1}{h} = 1$ is the same as previously. There are after that two different advances to the number e. The first one (Björk & Brolin, 2000; Gennow et al., 2004) examines the last expression for different small *h* values close to the zero. The other one develops the last expression (Eriksson et al., 2008; Szabo et al., 2008) as $\frac{a^h - 1}{h} = 1 \Rightarrow a = (h+1)^{\frac{1}{h}}$ before doing the same thing which resembles Hyltén-Cavallius and Sandgren (1968) if you change *h* with $\frac{1}{h}$ and of course $h \to 0$ with $h \to \infty$: $\lim_{h\to\infty} \left(1 + \frac{1}{h}\right)^h = e$

The notion of a "continuous expression" has been mentioned just in the one of the examined textbooks (Eriksson et al., 2008), and mostly informative.

The derivative of the function

$$f(x) = e^{k \cdot x}$$

derives either algebraically (Björk & Brolin, 2000; Eriksson et al., 2008; Szabo et al., 2008) or graphically (Gennow et al., 2004) and becomes:

$$f(x) = k \cdot e^{kx}.$$

This doesn't just facilitates further differentiating of the functions $f(x) = \ln x$ and $f(x) = a^x$ but plays even quite important role in student mathematical learning in the field of the complex numbers.

Mathematical organizations

Different approaches that are done and described above in the mathematical community, by mathematicians, compared to those in the educational system might be treated dissimilarly in terms of mathematical organizations. The first of these approaches, MO_1 , deals with the existence of the number e while the second, MO_2 , with the value of the number e.

Mathematical organizations				
MO ₁	MO ₂			
The existence of the number "e"	The value of the number "e"			

Figure 3. Mathematical organizations

The obvious disparities, which predominate between the mathematical and educational institutions, call therefore for the creating more than one of mathematical organizations. They are signified as above with \mathbf{MO}_1 and \mathbf{MO}_2 . The question is now how these corresponded praxeological organisations are both built and functioning.

 MO_1 :s task T_1 deals with justifying the existence of the number e. The techniques τ_i within this praxeology, which facilitate managing of that, are closely related to their own technologies θ_i that both justify and theoretically present them on the same time. As we could notice from above there are some quite similar techniques within the mathematical community.

	The praxeology MO ₁ The Mathematical Institution				
т ₁ .	Exponential function $y = a^x$	т4	The existence of the number "e"	T3	The definition of Inx
$\theta_{\rm r}$	At different places	θ_4	The notion of function	$\theta_{2,3}$	The notion of function, inverse area and integral
T ₁	The problem $\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{a^{h} - 1}{h} = 1$		The definition of lnx		The inverse function
θ_{l}	Not mentioned at all		The inverse function		
T2	New function ln x	T5	The theorem $\lim_{t \to \infty} (1 + \frac{x}{t})^t = e^x$		Maclaurin series
θ _{2,3}	The notion of function, inverse, area and integral	θ_{5}	Limits of functions, algebra and series		

Figure 4. The Praxeology MO1 within the Mathematical Institution

The first of them τ_1 starts with general functions $y = a^x$ and two different attempts τ_1 and τ_1 to justify the existence of the value of afor which $y' = a^x$. The first one uses the limits and the second discourse about properties of the function. Two of the other techniques τ_2 and τ_3 end initially up in the definition of a new function, $\ln x$, which is once close connected to the notion of the area with quite vague explanation or justification. The exponential function is after that defined as an inverse to $\ln x$ and the number eis received for x = 1. The fourth technique τ_4 begins with the assumption of the existence of the number e and go over to defining the function $\ln x$. The number e is then acquired from the equation

ln
$$x = 1$$
. The fifth technique τ_5 proves the following phrase $\lim_{t \to \infty} \left(1 + \frac{x}{t}\right)^t = e^x$ and takes e as $\left(1 + \frac{1}{n}\right)^n$, $n = 1, 2, 3, ...$

The technologies θ_i constituted of different parts of mathematics are either behind these techniques, not mentioned at all $\theta_{1''}$ or at the different places in the treated textbooks $\theta_{1'}$, with and without adequate references. The notion of the area below a graph of a function, continuity of functions, inverse function, limits, integrals, series and their convergences are some of them. The technologies overlap each other in some of the techniques. The technologies $\theta_{2,3}$ are about the notion of the function, inverse function, integral and the area. The notion of the function belongs to θ_4 . The discourses about limits of functions, algebra and series constitute θ_5 .

The theory Θ_1 that justify these praxeologies must include a big part of the theory of calculus considered functions, limits, derivates, integrals and infinite series with adequate algebra.

What is MO_2 :s task constituted of? The task T_2 determines the value of the number e. There are three techniques within the mathematical and educational institution.

	The praxeology MO ₂			
The Mathematical Institution				
Exponential function $y = a^x$	The existence of the number "e"		The definition of lnx	
The problem $\lim_{k \to 0} \frac{a^k - 1}{h} = 1$	The definition of lnx		The inverse function	
	The inverse function			
New function ln x	The theorem $\lim_{t \to \infty} (1 + \frac{x}{t})^t = e^x$	τ21	Maclaurin series	
		θ ₂₁	Algebra and series	

Figure 5. The praxeology MO2 within the Mathematical Institution

The first technique τ_{21} uses Maclaurin series while the second τ_{22} decides the value of the number a so that $\frac{y'}{y} = 1$ there $y = a^x$. Here there are two different sub-techniques. The graphical one and the calculating one. The last technique τ_{23} applies the limit of the function $\lim_{h\to 0} \frac{a^h - 1}{h} = 1$, to calculate the value of the number e.

The technologies $\theta_{21,22,23}$ includes discourses about series, derivatives and algebra. Algebra and series make up θ_{21} , derivatives and graphs θ_{22} and limits of function, algebra and calculus θ_{23} .

 Θ_2 are made up of the theories about series derivatives and algebra.

		The	praxeology MO ₂		
	The Educational Institution				
T ₂₂	The ratio $\frac{y'}{y} = k$ $y = a^x$		$y = a^x$	$\frac{a^{k}-1}{h} = 1$ leads to $a = (h+1)^{\frac{1}{k}}$	
θ22	Derivatives and graphs				
	Presentations: graphical and algebraic	T ₂₃	Then: $y' = a^* \cdot \lim_{k \to 0} \frac{a^k - 1}{h}$ that's: $\lim_{k \to 0} \frac{a^k - 1}{h} = 1$	and $\lim_{k \to \infty} (1 + \frac{1}{h})^k = e$	
		θ ₂₃	Limits, algebra and calculus		

Figure 6. The praxeology MO2 within The Educational Institution

A look at the introduction of the number e at the upper secondary school level begins with the presentations of some exponential function $y = a^x$, the quote y/y' and the question if there is such number e that this ratio becomes equal with 1. The next step

becomes the algebraic or the graphical one. The aim in the first one is to answer the question of the existence of the number e with the notion of differential quotient according to its own definition. This leads to the problem of the solving, which is described above. The solution is created through the testing of this difficult expression for quite small numbers, which leads to the approximation of the number e. The graphical one does the same thing of the testing but with help of calculator and illustrations of the graphs to the ratio y/y directing towards to the value 1. The technologies of these two very similar approaches are not well satisfied from the mathematical point of view. There are apparent lacks of mathematical explanations of the notions of the functions and continuity of functions and the existence of this number e but thanks to the learning practice that usually is conformed at the upper secondary school it doesn't bring on any introductory problems for pupils with already acquired learning habits, that is how things go on at schools and what continually happens. This technology justifies some kind of reasons for the pupils. The pupils are usually both without demanded mathematical knowledge to react against the introduction and without really wish to do that. Learning studying practices don't impact the student's endeavours if they realize this "theoretical" kind of knowledge, which usually is perceived as to much theoretical and difficult to learn by. The reasons are about that between the numbers 2 and 3 should or

shall exist a number that the value of the ratio $\frac{y'}{y}$ or of the limit

mentioned above converge to the number 1. This is repeated time after time in the direction to get better and better approximated value of the number e. Theory of calculus is vague or not at all presented.

Solution

To begin instead with the well-known expression $S = P(1+r)^t$ to calculate the amount of money S with r percental interest rate during the time t if initially the investment is P can be a good solution. It leads to $S = P(1 + \frac{r}{n})^{nt}$ by n times a year. The expression becomes $S = (1 + \frac{1}{n})^n$ for P = r = t = 1. The table for different values on n shows directly quite well approach to the value of the number e (Maor, 1994, p 26). Continually the expression $(e^x)' = e^x$ can be

easily proved while the proof for the existence of the number e goes via the theory of number series, which would stay out of the treatment at upper secondary school level.

Discussion

The anthropological theory of didactic with its epistemological and didactic model, which in this paper facilitate analysing mathematicians and educational literary practices in the case of the number e by two of the mathematical organizations seems even here to be a very practical investigating tool as in the article of Barbé et al (2005). The reference model or reference mathematical knowledge helps to follow up and explore in details the procedures of the introduction of the number "e" in these two institutions and their connections within and between the institutions.

The problem of the introduction of the number e stems not only from the transposition process from the scholarly to the mathematical knowledge but as well from the problem within these institutional forms. There are consequently two kinds of difficulties. The first one has to do with the framework of organisational practices and the second one with the process of the transposition of the knowledge. Inside the organisational practices there are both the problem of the existence of the number and the problem of its value, which more and less demanding on which level they are treated on, are connected with, mathematical constrains. These mathematical constraints, which have clearly a mathematical theoretical source in their nature, are well known as for example the continuity and the limits of functions, the convergence of series and area problems with the notion of the integral. The students require this mathematical knowledge to understand the indigence and introduction of the number e in order to be able to manipulate with it. If they experience just constraints and failure in their struggling with mathematics already at the introductory level the possibilities for a good and successful mathematics leaning and understanding detract. The other constraints, which arise from the process of the transposition, are a lot unwieldy. Their treatments are at upper secondary school level and the problems, mentioned above, already exist at the higher level. This nevertheless there are transparencies between the institutional levels, which are protecting in the process of the transposition of this knowledge.

Barbé et al. (2005) point difficulties in the didactic process, which form mathematical organizations, regarding integration of its six moments in the case of the punctual mathematical organizations, which are not linked to each other. The moment of the first encounter, the exploratory, the technical, the technological-theoretical, the institutionalisation and the evaluation moment are included.

More studies both within institutional practices and within the process of the transposition are required not only in this case of the number "e" but also in the other cases of the irrational numbers at special and mathematical knowledge in general.

References

- Barbé, J., Bosch, M., Espinoza, L., & Gascón, J. (2005). Didactic Restrictions on the Teacher's Practice: The Case of Limits of Functions in Spanish High Schools. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 59(1-3), 235-268.
- Björk, L. E., & Brolin, H. (2000). Matematik 3000 kurs C och D lärobok naturvetenskap och teknik. Falköping: Bokförlaget Natur och Kultur.
- Bosch, M., & Gascón, J. (2006). Twenty-five years of the didactic transposition. *ICMI Bulletin*, 58, 51-65.
- Brousseau, G. (1997). *Theory of didactical situations in mathematics*. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publisher.
- Domar, T., Haliste, K., Wallin, H., & Wik, I. (1969). *Inledning till analysen*. Lund: Gleerups.
- Eriksson, K., Sjunnesson, J., Jonsson, M., & Gavel, H. (2008). Matematik tal och rum NT kurs C+D. Stockholm: Liber AB.
- Forsling, G., & Neymark, M. (2004). *Matematisk analys en variabel*. Stockholm: Liber.
- Gennow, S., Gustafsson, I. M., & Silborn, B. (2004). Exponent C röd matematik för gymnasieskolan. Malmö: Gleerups Utbildning AB.
- Hardy, N. (2009). Students' perceptions of institutional practices: The case of limits of functions in college level calculus courses. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 72(3), 341-358.
- Hyltén, C. C., & Sandgren, L. (1968). *Matematisk analys*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Maor, E. (1994). *e the story of a number*. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Szabo, A., Larson, N., Viklund, G., & Marklund, M. (2008). Origo matematik kurs C för naturvetenskapliga och tekniska program. Stockholm: Bonnier utbildning.
IND's skriftserie

- Nr. 16 Evaluering af Matematik C på stx og hhx erfaringer fra det første år efter gymnasiereformen (2007)
- Nr. 17 Den naturfaglige evalueringskultur i folkeskolen (2008)
- Nr. 18 Didactics as Design Science peer reviewed papers from a PhDcourse at the University of Copenhagen (2010)
- Nr. 19 Exhibit Engineering: A new research perspective (2010)
- Nr. 20 The Anthropological Theory of the Didactical (ATD) peer reviewed papers from a PhD-course at the University of Copenhagen (2011)

Øvrige www.ind.ku.dk/skriftserie